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| am pleased to report the audited results of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2019. During the year, the Group achieved a profit from operations
before valuation changes in investment properties of HK$499.8 million
(2018: HK$516.4 million) and a profit attributable to equity shareholders of
HK$148.5 million (2018: HK$159.3 million). Details of the financial results
and business performance and development are set out in the Directors’

Report on pages 54 to 70.

The Board is pleased to recommend a final dividend of HK$0.57 per share
for the year ended 31 March 2019 (2018: HK$0.59 per share). As the
Company paid an interim dividend of HK$0.58 per share during the year
(2018: HK$0.60 per share), the total distribution will be HK$1.15 per share
for the year (2018: HK$1.19 per share).

The annual general meeting of members of the Company will be held on
Tuesday, 10 September 2019.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | wish to thank all our staff for their devotion
and dedication, and would like to thank our professional advisors and our

members for their support in the past year.

Cheong Hooi Hong

Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2019
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iISQUARE is located in the heart of Tsim Sha Tsui at the intersection of
Nathan Road and Peking Road. It is the first one-stop shopping and
entertainment complex linked to Tsim Sha Tsui MTR station. This complex
provides 56,000 square metres of space comprising a shopping podium,

cinema box and tower.

The podium is a vibrant hub for world-class fashion and lifestyle brands,
complemented by five grand cineplexes, including a 448-seat digital IMAX
theatre. ISQUARE also features fine-dining restaurants and lifestyle services

in its iconic tower.
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N
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The Company recognises responsibilities to its shareholders
is therefore committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance. To accomplish this, the Company has reviewed its practices
and procedures, and identified and formalised appropriate measures and

policies.

Throughout the financial year ended 31 March 2019, the Company complied
with all the code provisions, where applicable, set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (“CG Code”) in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing

Rules”), except for the deviations as disclosed hereunder:

Code Provision A.1.8: Appropriate insurance cover

in respect of legal action against directors should be
arranged

Currently, the Company does not have insurance cover for legal action
against its Directors. The Board believes that with the current risk
management and internal control systems and the close supervision of the
management, the Directors’ risk of being sued or getting involved in litigation
in their capacity as Directors is relatively low. Benefits to be derived from
taking out insurance may not outweigh the cost. Despite it, every Director is,
subject to the provisions of the applicable laws, indemnified out of the assets
of the Company against all costs, charges, expenses, losses and liabilities
he/she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of his/her office or
otherwise in relation thereto pursuant to the Articles of Association of the
Company. In view of the above, the Board considers that the Directors’

exposure to risk is manageable.

Note: “shareholder” shall have the same meaning as that ascribed to “member” under
the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance”) throughout this annual report.
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Code Provision A.2.1: The roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separated and performed by two
individuals

Mr Cheong Hooi Hong is both the Chairman and chief executive of the
Company. To avoid concentration of power and authority in any one
individual, day-to-day management of the Company’s business is shared by
Executive Directors whilst formulation of objectives and strategic decisions
are collectively made by the Board. In addition, the Board comprises three
Independent Non-executive Directors (“INEDs”) with differing expertise/
calibre who can provide a “check and balance” effect on the management
through their high attendance at board meetings and therefore ensuring
a balance of power. Given consideration to the aforesaid, the Board of
Directors is of the view that the current structure does not have any adverse
effect on the Company and believes that this structure enables the Group to

make and implement decisions promptly and efficiently.

Code Provision A.6.5: All directors should participate
in continuous professional development and provide
the issuer with a record of training they received

All Directors participated in continuous professional development and
provided the Company with their training record as required except that one

of the Directors was unable to do so due to health reason.

Given that the Director concerned is a Non-executive Director (“NED”)
and his health condition has deteriorated to the state that he has not
been able to attend meetings of the Board for more than six consecutive
months, in accordance with the provisions of the Articles of Association of
the Company, the Board has resolved to vacate his office with effect from
26 June 2019. Upon the passing of the said resolution, he ceased to be a NED
of the Company.

Associated International Hotels Limited S\EEIFEEA R A T
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Corporate Governance Practices (continued)

Code Provision A.6.7: Independent non-executive
directors and other non-executive directors should
not only give the board and any committees on which
they serve the benefit of their skills, expertise and
varied backgrounds and qualifications through regular
attendance and active participation, but also attend
general meetings to gain and develop a balanced
understanding of the views of shareholders

Except for the only NED of the Company being unable to attend the
Company’s meetings due to health reason since November 2018, the INEDs
of the Company had full attendance at board meetings, board committee

meetings and annual general meeting held during the year.

Having given due consideration to the current health condition of the
NED and his inability to attend meetings of the Board for more than six
consecutive months, in accordance with the provisions of the Articles of
Association of the Company, the Board has resolved to vacate his office
with effect from 26 June 2019. Upon the passing of the said resolution, he

ceased to be a NED of the Company.

Code Provision B.1.5: Remuneration details of senior
management should be disclosed by band in annual
reports

The remuneration details of the senior management are not disclosed by
band in the annual report. To ensure they are remunerated at a reasonable
but not excessive rate, none of them is involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration or related to the remuneration committee members (who
are authorised to collectively determine the remuneration of the senior
management based on a number of factors set out in the Company’s
remuneration policy). The Directors consider that the non-disclosure does not
pose any negative impact on the Company. On the contrary, the disclosure
of the remuneration details of the senior management may cause undue
comparison and discontent among staff members, and would unnecessarily
provide highly sensitive and confidential information to competitors and other
third parties looking to recruit the senior management. In light of the above,
the Directors are of the view that the disclosure of such information would
neither provide pertinent information in furtherance of corporate governance,

nor be in the interests of the members of the Company.
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Code Provision C.2.5: Issuer should have an internal
audit function and review the need for one in case of
its absence annually

At present, the Company does not have an internal audit function. The Board
reviewed the need for setting up an internal audit function in March 2019
and considered that there was no such an immediate need after taking into
account the Group’s current circumstances, such as the focused nature and
geographical spread of business, the relatively simple operating structure
and small size of the Group and the close involvement and supervision
of the management in daily operation, which could provide sufficient risk
management and internal control for the Group. Despite it, the Board has
taken initiatives to promote the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems by creating a control environment
across the Group (such as building up a corporate culture based on
sound business ethics and accountability through the implementation of
“whistle-blowing” arrangements and procedure manuals with defined roles,
responsibilities and reporting lines) and putting control activities in place (such
as conducting group-wide risk assessment exercise regularly). In addition,
where the external auditor of the Company considers any internal controls
that are relevant to the audit of the financial statements, it will report to the
audit committee any significant deficiencies in internal control identified

during the audit.

In view of the above considerations and the potential cost to be involved, the
Board is of the opinion that it is not cost effective to set up and maintain an
internal audit function and that the existing control mechanism could justify
its absence for the time being. Nonetheless, the Board will review the need

for an internal audit function on an annual basis.
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Code Provision F.1.3: The company secretary

should report to the board chairman and/or the chief
executive

Instead of reporting to the Chairman (who is also the chief executive of the
Company), the company secretary reports directly to the Deputy Chairman.
Since the company secretary is located in the same office as the Deputy
Chairman and they work closely on a day-to-day basis, direct reporting
to the Deputy Chairman can provide for a prompt and timely response to
issues which require immediate attention. On the other hand, the Chairman
keeps having ongoing discussion and dialogue with the Deputy Chairman
on business affairs, in particular corporate governance and financial issues,
which enables him to fully understand the operation of the Company and
manage it in an effective manner. Taking into account of the above, the

Board considers that the current reporting line is apposite to the Company.

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as
its code for dealing in securities in the Company by its Directors (“Model
Code”). Specific enquiry has been made to all Directors of the Company
as to whether they have complied with or whether there has been any
non-compliance with the Model Code, and all Directors (except the NED who
is unable to do so due to health reason) have confirmed compliance with
the required standard set out in the Model Code during the financial year
ended 31 March 2019.
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The Board of Directors during the financial year ended 31 March 2019

comprised the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr Cheong Hooi Hong (Chairman)

Mr Cheong Kheng Lim (Deputy Chairman)
Mr Cheong Keng Hooi

Mr Cheong Sim Lam

Miss Cheong Chong Ling

Non-executive Director

Mr Sin Cho Chiu, Charles”

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr Chow Wan Hoi, Paul

Mr Wong Yiu Tak

Mr Lee Chung

A Mr Sin Cho Chiu, Charles was vacated from his office as a Director of the
Company on 26 June 2019 pursuant to Article 87(C) of the Articles of Association
of the Company due to his long absence from board meetings.

Mr Cheong Hooi Hong (who is both the Chairman and chief executive
of the Company), Mr Cheong Kheng Lim, Mr Cheong Keng Hooi and
Mr Cheong Sim Lam are brothers. Miss Cheong Chong Ling is the daughter
of Mr Cheong Kheng Lim and the niece of Messrs Cheong Hooi Hong,
Cheong Keng Hooi and Cheong Sim Lam. Some of the Directors who are

members of the Cheong family together own businesses outside the Group.

Under the corporate governance structure, the Board of Directors is as
a whole accountable to the shareholders of the Company in respect of
the Group’s performance. The Board of Directors is responsible for the
leadership and control of the Group, which include formulation of objectives,
overall strategies and business plans; and overseeing the financial and
management performance, corporate governance, risk management and

internal control systems of the Group.
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With the objective of focusing more attentively on specific areas, the Board
has established three committees, namely the remuneration committee, the
nomination committee and the audit committee. NEDs (including INEDs)
are invited to serve on these Board committees according to the benefits
brought by their participation in view of their individual experience and
skills. To assist the committees in discharging their roles adequately, each
committee is provided with a committee policy, setting out guidelines for its
members to follow in the process of decision-making. Duties and authorities
of these committees are also set out in their respective terms of reference.
To keep the Board fully informed of their works and findings, these

committees are required to report to the Board on a regular basis.

For the purpose of efficient operation, the Board relies on the management
for the day-to-day operation of the Group’s business. The management has
to implement the objectives, strategies and plans adopted by the Board
and report to the Board regularly. The Board monitors the work of the
management whilst the management provides an indispensable support to
the operation of the Board and the Group’s development. Given the close
collaboration between the Board and the management, the duties, power
and functions of the Board and the management are clearly laid down and

defined in writing.

Delegating its functions and authorities to the Board committees and the
management does not absolve the Board from its overall responsibility for
the governance of the Group. The Board at all times assumes the ultimate

responsibility for the Group’s management and operation.

The Directors of the Company are responsible for preparation of the
consolidated financial statements for each financial period which give a true
and fair view of the financial position and financial performance of the Group.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
financial year ended 31 March 2019 on a going concemn basis, the Directors
have adopted suitable accounting policies and, other than the changes in
accounting policies which are first effective for the year under review as
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements, applied them consistently
with those applied to the financial statements of the previous financial
year. The Directors have also made judgements and estimates which are

reasonable.
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The Directors of the Company are accountable for keeping proper records
which reflect with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of
the Group. The statement of the Auditor of the Company about its reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 74 to 80.

Six board meetings, of which four were regular board meetings, and one
general meeting were held during the financial year ended 31 March 2019.
Individual attendance of the Directors at board meetings, board committee
meetings and annual general meeting in the year under review is set out

e ¢ below:
HEEERY AERLEEENE
Meetings attended/eligible to attend
Bzg yHzEe  REZEE  ENZEE RAAEAE
Annual
Remuneration Nomination Audit General
Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
B REEER
HEzEE PREMEE ay
Covering
corporate
£ governance- Covering
Directors related matters other matters Total
HITEE
Executive Directors
ERERE(ZE) 212 34 5/6 TER 33 TER 17
Mr Cheong Hooi Hong (Chairman) NA NA
ERREE(EEE) 212 44 6/6 TER 33 TER 17
Mr Cheong Kheng Lim (Deputy Chairman) NA NA
EmELE 12 4/4 5/6 TER TER TEm 17
Mr Cheong Keng Hooi NA NA NA
ERBEE 2/2 4/4 6/6 TER TER TER 1
Mr Cheong Sim Lam NA NA NA
ElRE 22 4/4 6/6 TEfA TR TR 1/1
Miss Cheong Chong Ling NA NA NA
FHTEE
Non-executive Director
pziiliehe 1/2 2/4 3/6 1/3 TER 2/4 il
Mr Sin Cho Chiu, Charles NA
BUHHTEE
Independent Non-executive Directors
AEBLE 2/2 4/4 6/6 33 33 4/4 il
Mr Chow Wan Hoi, Paul
BREEE 212 4/4 6/6 3/3 33 4/4 il
MrWong Yiu Tak
FEE 2/2 4/4 6/6 33 33 4/4 il
Mr Lee Chung
B 2 4 6 3 3 4 1
Total number of mestings
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To enable the Directors to maintain the necessary knowledge and skills to
perform their roles, the Company places an emphasis on Directors’ training.
During the year under review, all Directors were furnished with quarterly
memoranda/circulars and a guide published by the Companies Registry
so as to regularly refresh their knowledge relating to Directors’ duties and
legal and regulatory obligations. To keep the Directors abreast of the latest
developments regarding regulatory and legal requirements, the company
secretary also provided updates directly or through other professionals
to the Board as and when necessary. During the financial year ended
31 March 2019, not only did the Company organise in-house training courses
in relation to corporate governance, rules and regulations for the Directors,
it also provided them with “Director E-training” as composed by The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. For the purpose of ensuring adequacy of
training received by the Directors, the Board conducted a review thereon.
Other than the foregoing, the Directors are encouraged to attend relevant
external training sessions, seminars, forums and conferences on their own
with all related expenses reimbursable by the Company, subject to the

Company’s policy.
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RBE-ZT—NLF=A=+—B1LFKREE & Training"® " received by the Directors during the financial year ended
EEESEYT 2R mT 31 March 2019 is set out below:
RaawE
HERE HiiTBAR
= BEEAL
BE = HEER EER AR
Receiving
briefings
Attending from company
courses/ secretary/
seminars/ Reading  other executives/
o Directors conferences materials professionals
HITEF Executive Directors
EEEEE(EE) Mr Cheong Hooi Hong (Chairman) N N
BT E(FIEE) Mr Cheong Kheng Lim (Deputy Chairman) V J
BB A Mr Cheong Keng Hooi N N
EL A Mr Cheong Sim Lam v N
$EIEIS /N Miss Cheong Chong Ling v N
FHPITEE Non-executive Director
SRR A Mr Sin Cho Chiu, Charles™™*?
BUHHITEE Independent Non-executive Directors
AE/TE Mr Chow Wan Hoi, Paul N V
mIRESLE Mr Wong Yiu Tak N J
TR Mr Lee Chung N N
1 fEBIR RO E) R EE RGO RRAE Note 1: The training mentioned herein is relevant to (1) corporate governance and
7 - (2) rules and regulations.
7120 AR A RERRE AR AR R R EEIR Note 2:  Mr Sin Cho Chiu, Charles was unable to provide the Company with his training
# - record due to health reason.

14 Associated International Hotels Limited &5 BB E [5G R 2 5



TEERHE Corporate Governance Report

FUTEERZENFHRR—F(ERARFTAER
“E-NAFRA SRR REAGEIZAAIREER
ﬁ%%%z%%&ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ§$W§E
MFERUARBREFASHEREEZEBE T —RZ
PR B mxﬁt°ﬁﬁ$ﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
Al #%ﬂé%ﬁﬁi#%ﬂé%ﬁm =FRK
PWERE—R  EZFEFAERET -

RARBWESBUERITESTAARRBE LA
B EE M (R ETARRIESABIRPTTIE M8 5] )
MWRERN I - Y RAEBUINTESHEB L
AL e B —RBUIFRTERHA LTHRAUZE
SRABRNEENEFEERN ST IEEBOTBE
BER-

EFGCRU=EZET  HRAFMERS
REZBRNELEAS xiﬁT%ADa
I BAERE - %%E@Zﬁﬁ% B - A FEIR
EERRHBELREREB (N ARAEER
HIEBID) -

FWEEE

REEFMERA &K B ORARLF HEOF B
CEHAETRNEZNSBERARRE - A
%’%$@E&I%MKQE°&$EE%Mﬁ

%Mﬁ@%%i°

The NED is appointed for a term of one year (though he was vacated from
office pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company on 26 June
2019) whilst INEDs are appointed for the period commencing from the
conclusion of one annual general meeting to the conclusion of the following
annual general meeting. According to the Company’s Articles of Association,
they are required to retire by rotation, but remain eligible for re-election, at

least once every three years.

The Company has received confirmation from each INED about his
independence as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers
each of them to be independent. One of the INEDs possesses appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management

expertise as required under the Listing Rules.

The Board has established three committees, namely the remuneration
committee, the nomination committee and the audit committee, each
with its written terms of reference. Each committee is required to report
back to the Board and keep the Board fully informed of its decisions and
recommendations unless there are legal or regulatory restrictions on its

ability to do so.

Remuneration committee

The primary objective of the Group’s remuneration policy is to retain
Directors and senior management of suitable calibre by remunerating them
at a competitive level. In order to achieve this, the Board has established
a remuneration committee. Under the Group’s remuneration policy, no
Director or his/her associates are allowed to be involved in decisions relating

to his/her own remuneration.
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Remuneration committee (Continued)

The remuneration committee currently comprises three INEDs. They are
Mr Chow Wan Hoi, Paul (committee chairman), Mr Wong Yiu Tak and
Mr Lee Chung. The main duties of the remuneration committee are to review
and make recommendations to the Board on the terms of reference
of the committee; to assist the Company in formulating remuneration
policy and structure for Directors and senior management; to review and
approve the management’s remuneration proposals; to determine, with
delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of individual Executive
Directors and senior management; to make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration of the NED and INEDs; to consider salaries
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities and
employment conditions elsewhere in the Group; to review and approve
compensation payable to Executive Directors and senior management for
any loss or termination of office or appointment; and to review and approve
compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or removal of Directors
for misconduct. Details of the remuneration committee’s authority and
duties are set out in the terms of reference. The said terms of reference are
published on the websites of the Company and Hong Kong Exchanges and

Clearing Limited (“HKEX”).

Remuneration of individual Executive Directors and senior management is
determined, with delegated responsibility, by the remuneration committee on
the recommendations of the chief executive (except Mr Cheong Hooi Hong
whose remuneration package is determined by the remuneration committee
alone) on an annual basis. The remuneration committee also makes
recommendations to the Board on the review of remuneration of NED
and INEDs annually. For all other staff, it is the Executive Directors who fix
their remuneration packages on the recommendations of their respective

department heads on an annual basis.

The amount of remuneration payable to the Directors is determined by
reference to a number of factors, including remuneration paid by comparable
companies, the Group’s results as well as the work-load, responsibility and
time commitment of the Directors. When determining the remuneration
packages of senior management and all other staff, the remuneration
committee and Executive Directors, as the case may be, take(s) into
consideration the factors including market conditions, the Group’s results,

individual performance, job nature and duties.
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Remuneration committee (Continued)
Other than the retirement scheme as set out in note 25 to the financial
statements on page 147, the Group does not have any long-term incentive

scheme.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2019, the remuneration committee
held three meetings and reviewed and made recommendations to the Board
on the Company’s remuneration policy and the terms of reference of the
committee; considered and fixed the remuneration packages of Executive
Directors and senior management; and made recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration of both the NED and INEDs. The attendance
record of each remuneration committee member is set out in the table on

page 12.

Nomination committee

The nomination committee currently comprises two Executive Directors
and three INEDs. The members are Mr Cheong Hooi Hong (committee
chairman), Mr Cheong Kheng Lim, Mr Chow Wan Hoi, Paul, Mr Wong
Yiu Tak and Mr Lee Chung.

The main duties of the nomination committee are to review and provide
recommendations to the Board on the nomination policy, terms of reference
of the committee and the Board diversity policy; to review the structure,
size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of
the Board and make recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy; to assess the
independence of INEDs; to assess the mix in terms of gender, age and
qualifications required on the Board; to identify individuals suitably qualified
to become Board members and select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships; and to
make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment
of Directors and succession planning for Directors, in particular the Chairman
and the chief executive, and on the need of setting measurable objectives
for implementing the Board diversity policy. Details of the nomination
committee’s authority and duties are set out in the terms of reference. The
said terms of reference are published on the websites of the Company and
the HKEX.
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Nomination committee (Continued)

During the financial year ended 31 March 2019, the nomination committee
held three meetings and reviewed and made recommendations to the Board
on the nomination policy, the terms of reference of the committee, the Board
diversity policy, the need of setting measurable objectives for implementing
the Board diversity policy and the necessary mix required on the Board;
put forward recommendations to the Board on the structure, size and
composition of the Board; assessed the independence of the INEDs; and
made recommendations to the Board on the re-appointments of the INEDs,

NED and Directors who were subject to retirement by rotation.

To ensure the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the needs of the Company, a nomination policy
which delineates the procedures and criteria for nomination of Directors has
been laid down. Under the policy, all Directors, including those appointed
for a specific term, shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years and a retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election. Any
Directors appointed by the Board as an addition to the Board shall retire
at the next annual general meeting whilst those appointed to fill casual
vacancies shall retire at the next general meeting (instead of the next annual
general meeting) and Directors so appointed are eligible for re-election. The

appointment term of the Directors is determined by the Board.

Before making recommendations to the Board on appointment or
re-appointment of a Director, the nomination committee shall, after having
considered the present and future needs of the Company and the new
challenges/risks it may encounter, determine the necessary attributes/
competencies required for the Director. In considering the suitability of
an individual to become a Director or a Director to be re-appointed, the
nomination committee shall consider whether the person concerned
possesses the specific qualities required by the Company, his/her
personal profile and whether he/she meets the basic criteria as required
under applicable laws and regulations in Hong Kong, such as being able
to demonstrate a standard of competence and having the character,
experience and integrity commensurate with his/her position as a Director.
For the appointment/re-appointment of an INED, the nomination committee
shall also take into account the independence guidelines laid down in the

Listing Rules.
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Nomination committee (Continued)

To ensure there is a balanced composition of the Board, the nomination
committee needs to consider not only one’s attributes/competencies, but
also his/her value to the Company. Board diversity is a key consideration
in Board selection process which the nomination committee shall give
consideration to. For the Company, it is more than an issue of gender, it also
focuses on age and professional experience. Selection of female candidates
or candidates of a particular age group or qualifications to join the Board is,
in part, dependent on the pool of candidates possessing necessary skills,
knowledge and experience. Board appointment is mainly based on merit and
contribution likely brought by the chosen candidates. The Company believes
that, with the benefits of diversity, it can have a better understanding to
the needs and expectations of its stakeholders, in particular shoppers and

tenants.

To reflect the above, the Company has adopted a Board diversity policy, in
which the nomination committee is required to assess the mix in terms of
gender, age and qualifications required on the Board; and to recommend to
the Board any matters in relation to Board diversity or implementation of the

policy.

Although the Board supports the principle of diversity, it currently does not
intend to fix a diversity quota for Board appointment or set a short term
objective on gender diversity, for such policies may compromise on the

calibre of Directors.

As regards nomination procedures, the relevant details are set out
in the nomination policy, which requires the Board (i) on receipt of
recommendations from the nomination committee forms an opinion as to
whether one shall be appointed/re-appointed with particular regards paid
to the matters stipulated in Code Provision A.5.5 of the CG Code and
(i) publishes an announcement as per the Listing Rules after the same has been
approved. If the appointment/re-appointment is subject to shareholders’
approval, disclosure as required under the Listing Rules has to be made
accordingly. The attendance record of each nomination committee member is

set out in the table on page 12.
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Audit committee

The primary responsibilities of the audit committee of the Company are
to make recommendations to the Board on appointment, re-appointment
and removal of the external auditor; to approve remuneration, terms of
engagement and handle all issues relating to resignation or dismissal in
respect of the external auditor; to review and monitor the external auditor’s
independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of its audit process; to
discuss with the external auditor the nature and scope of audit and reporting
obligations before commencement of audit; to develop and implement
policy on engagement of the external auditor to supply non-audit services;
to oversee financial reporting system, risk management and internal
control systems; to review financial information of the Group; to review
arrangements employees of the Company can use in confidence to raise
concerns about possible improprieties and ensure proper arrangements are
in place for fair and independent investigation and for follow-up action; to act
as the key representative body for overseeing the Company’s relations with
the external auditor; and to review and make recommendations to the Board
on the terms of reference of the committee. Details of the audit committee’s
authority and duties are set out in the terms of reference. The said terms of

reference are published on the websites of the Company and the HKEX.

The audit committee currently comprises three INEDs. The members are
Mr Chow Wan Hoi, Paul (committee chairman), Mr Wong Yiu Tak and

Mr Lee Chung.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2019, the audit committee
met four times and made recommendations to the Board on the
re-appointment of the external auditor; considered and approved the terms
of engagement of the external auditor for provision of profits tax services;
fixed the external auditor’s remuneration; reviewed the half-year and annual
financial statements of the Group, including integrity and significant financial
reporting judgements contained therein, before submission to the Board
for approval; discussed with the external auditor the nature and scope
of the audit and determined the scope and extent of the interim review
before commencement; met the external auditor without the presence of
executive board members of the Company; and considered and made
recommendations to the Board on the arrangements for employees to raise
concerns about improprieties, the audit policy, the terms of reference of the

committee and the risk management policy.
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Audit committee (Continued)

The audit committee during the year under review also reviewed the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
by monitoring the risk change during the year, assessing the adequacy of
the mitigating strategies used and the impact of the identified risks on the
Group. It also evaluated the need of setting up an internal audit function by
considering the current internal control mechanism and the pros and cons of
doing so. The attendance record of each audit committee member is set out

in the table on page 12.

Corporate governance functions

Given the importance of good corporate governance to the success of
the Company, the Board is directly responsible for performing corporate
governance duties. The duties set out in the Code Provision D.3.1 of the CG

Code are included in its terms of reference.

Among the six board meetings held during the financial year ended 31 March
2019, two of the meetings covered issues relating to corporate governance.
At the meetings, the Board reviewed the general code of conduct for
employees and Directors; monitored the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management; and reviewed corporate
governance policies and practices including those relating to compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, the Company’s compliance with the
CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report. Individual
attendance of the Directors at the said two board meetings is set out in the

table on page 12.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2019, the Auditor of the Company,
KPMG, provided audit services of a value of approximately HK$798,000
to the Group. KPMG also provided non-audit services of a value of
approximately HK$257,000 to the Group, which included HK$61,000 and
HK$196,000 being charges for tax services and review of the interim results

of the Group respectively.
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Responsibility
The Board has an overall responsibility for the Group’s risk management and

internal control systems.

To this end, the Board, assisted by the audit committee, oversees the
foregoing systems on an ongoing basis by evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks (including the environmental, social
and governance-related risks) it is willing to take in achieving the Group’s
strategic objectives, maintaining appropriate and effective risk management

and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness.

Although the said systems are complemented by relevant procedure and
measures for the purpose of safeguarding the interests of the Group and its
shareholders as a whole, they are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or

loss.

Key features and porocess

As risk management is the responsibility of everyone within the Group
and something more than a formality, it is integrated into the day-to-day
operation and carried out at all levels under the stewardship of the Board.
In order to create a control environment across the Group to support the
risk management and internal control systems, the Company is committed
to building up a corporate culture based on business ethics, control
responsibility and risk awareness. To accomplish this, the Company has
adopted a general code of conduct to govern the integrity and ethical
behaviour of employees in business practices. Procedure manuals
delineating reporting lines and areas of responsibility of each department/
operating unit are laid down and are under review from time to time. In
addition, arrangements for employees to raise concerns, in confidence,
about possible improprieties in any matters in relation to the Group or any
non-compliance with the Company’s policies are in place. All policies,
procedure and guidelines with defined limits of delegated authority are put in

writing so as to enhance effective segregation of duties and controls.
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Key features and process (Continued)

On top of fostering a risk management culture, the Board adopts a bottom-
up approach to identify the Group’s operational risks. Instead of setting
up a separate department charged with the risk-related issues, it gets
all departments/operating units involved. Under the current systems, all
department/unit heads are required to establish risk factors specific to their
responsible areas, determine impact as well as likelihood of identified risks
in accordance with the risk appetite set by the Board and develop mitigating
strategies. They shall maintain a risk register containing the said information
and update it on a regular basis. In order to provide the Board and the audit
committee with an overview of the Group’s operational risks and how they
are managed, the management scrutinises, filters, amends and compiles
relevant information, together with findings of the strategic risk identification
performed by the Executive Directors on behalf of the Board, as a composite
risk report to the Board/the audit committee for review and endorsement
every 6 months unless the circumstances are exceptional which require
immediate attention for discussion. The external auditor also has access to
the risk registers and composite risk report. During the financial year ended
31 March 2019, such risk assessment exercise was done on a half-yearly

basis.

In the absence of an internal audit function (reasons for its absence are set
out in the section headed “Corporate Governance Practices” on pages 5 to 9),
the Board has appointed a qualified accountant, who is also the accounting
manager of the Group, to carry out sample testing on procedure compliance
and risk-related issues in respect of all departments/operating units. Test
results and findings are reported to the audit committee on an annual basis.
Heads of the departments/operating units which may have a significant
financial implication on the Group’s revenue are required to make an annual
representation to the audit committee confirming that all potential risks in
relation to their scope of work are properly dealt with. The management will
then review the situation and provide the Board/the audit committee with an
annual confirmation on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal

control systems.
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Key features and process (Continued)

Being part of the internal control process, the Group has maintained a
comprehensive accounting system for ensuring complete and accurate
financial information. Annual budgets as regards rental income and operating
expenses of ISQUARE, the Group’s main source of revenue, are prepared
for effective allocation and utilisation of resources. As regards outgoings,
the Group has established procedure for approval and control of operating
expenditures whilst the capital ones are subject to management approval
prior to commitment. Other control measures, including provision of monthly
management accounts to Directors and preparation of variance analyses,

help identify deficiencies and enable timely remedial actions to be taken.

Handling of inside information

Concerning inside information, the Company has implemented various
policies to govern how it shall be handled. Policy on disclosure of inside
information sets out the manner in which inside information is escalated
and disseminated whereas the risk management policy provides ways to
deal with risks which may constitute inside information. Besides, the general
code of conduct adopted by the Group prohibits inappropriate use of
confidential or inside information. All employees are required to undertake
their adherence to the said code and report any non-compliance with it to

the management.

For the purpose of complying with the applicable laws and regulations in
relation to inside information, the Company has adopted the Model Code as
its own code. Relevant procedure for guarding against mishandling of inside
information include pre-clearance on dealing in the Company’s securities
by designated Directors and notification of black-out period to Directors. In
order to remind Directors and employees of their obligations in securities

transaction, they are provided with memoranda on a quarterly basis.
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Review of effectiveness

Although the management is charged with the responsibility to design,
implement and monitor the risk management and internal control systems,
the Board and the audit committee oversee the process. In March 2019,
the Board, with the confirmation from the management certifying that the
aforesaid systems were functioning effectively and the assistance of the
audit committee, conducted a review on the effectiveness of the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems for the financial year ended
31 March 2019. Such review covered all material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls. Based on the review result, the Board
considered that the resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal control and
financial reporting functions were adequate and that the risk management
and internal control systems were effective and apposite to the Group
though no in-house or outsourced internal audit function has been set up as
required by the CG Code. The Board is not aware of any significant areas of
concern which should be brought to the attention of the shareholders of the

Company.

Principal risks and uncertainties

As with any business, the Group faces risks and uncertainties on a daily
basis. In determining the principal risks posed to the Group, the Board takes
into account the overall severity level (based on the impact and likelihood
matrix) of the risks set out in the composite risk report and their changes
during the financial year. It also examines their nature and impact on the
Group and evaluates the effectiveness and suitability of the mitigating
strategies as applied by taking into consideration the actual operation and

performance of the Group.

According to the prioritisation of risks from the Group’s overall perspective,
the following are identified as principal risks currently encountered by the
Group. That said, they are by no means exhaustive or comprehensive. There
may be other risks which may not be material now but could turn out to be
such in the future. Although the principal risks may not change significantly
from year to year, their magnitude and importance to the Group can and do

vary.
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Principal risks and uncertainties (Continued)
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Investment o Pursuant to Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, the Enabling revenue growth is an effective means to counter

properties (‘IPs”)

Group's IPs are stated at fair values in the consolidated
statement of financial position whilst changes thereof are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Given the relatively heavy weighting of the IPs in the
Group’s property portfolio, any significant change in the
valuation of the IPs can seriously affect the Group’s profit/
loss for the year. Although one of the key drivers of the
valuation of the IPs is rental income which can be volatile
and there has been continual downward pressure on rental
level, no apparent change to risk exposure is expected as
there was no incident giving rise to a substantial change in
valuation during the year under review.

That said, due to the current financial reporting
requirements, valuation changes have influenced and will
continue to influence the Group’s profit/loss though the
Group's cash flow will not be affected.
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adverse impact caused by valuation losses. Measures
taken by the Group include the following:

o To preserve quality of the IPs by carrying out
maintenance and enhancement works

e Toimprove tenant mix

o To stay alert to the market/tenant needs for
maintaining competitiveness

e Tolaunch creative and popular promotions so as to
increase exposure and add value to the IPs
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Principal risks and uncertainties (Continued)
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Leasing o Despite the fact that there was an increasing number of o Tokeep abreast of the market condition so as to set

tourists especially mainlanders coming to Hong Kong
subsequent to the opening of Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macao
Bridge and Guangzhou-Shenzhen-Hong Kong Express
Rail Link, it did not bring about incremental spending as
expected. Together with a relatively stronger Hong Kong
dollar and a moderating economic growth, no obvious
improvement in retail market was noticed. Downward
pressure on rental level and increase in vacancies at
iISQUARE persisted during the year under review given
the anticipated increase in new supply of retail premises in
Tsim Sha Tsui area and the change in consumer behaviour,
such as online shopping. In view of the prevailing retail
conditions, the risk of tenants’ default may continue.

Though there was quite a large number of tenancies at
iISQUARE due for renewal or rent review during the year in
question amid the foregoing leasing/retail conditions, the
mitigating strategies adopted by the Group can, to a certain
extent, help alleviate the unfavourable impact brought
by the aforesaid situation. Risk level therefore remained
broadly the same in the year under review.

the rental at a reasonable but competitive rate
To take ongoing initiatives to invite targeted tenants to
iSQUARE and appoint competent real estate agents

to market vacant spaces

To adopt a more cautious approach on tenant
selection

To maintain a well-balanced tenant mix and manage
tenancy expiries and vacancies

To increase tenancy deposit and closely monitor
tenants’ payment record

To conduct direct engagement with tenants and
monitor their financial performance
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Principal risks and uncertainties (Continued)
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Manpower o Insufficient supply of experienced and skilled personnel, in o Toreview the competitiveness of salary and benefits

BERIRAIR &

Economic and political ¢
outlook

particular front-line staff, has long been an issue in service
industry. Together with the structural changes in the
workforce in Hong Kong, such situation continued during
the year under review.
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As the Group’s operation is mainly based in Hong Kong,
any adverse change in political and economic climate in
Hong Kong could disrupt its overall business. Unfavourable
global environment can also impact on travelling and
spending patterns of tourists/shoppers which in turn
affects the financial performance of the Group. There
was no apparent improvement in local/global political and
economic conditions during the year under review.

of staff

o To provide staff with relevant outside training

o Tosetup areliever pool for front-line and marketing
staff so as to provide a temporary relief of shortage of
manpower

o To strengthen communication with staff through daily
briefing

o RYERLERE

KEDENGHE

DREASERCERBEE

o URHORASREREERABKTERERD
BB

o To closely monitor the operating environment so as
to enable prompt adjustment to corporate strategies
and business activities

o Tomaintain a solid financial position with strong cash
flow and a low gearing level

G
© - BBIKFEEE

Note:

< : Risk level remains broadly the same

BB RRAE REREBHRAZEARER
RHHZTERBAERNZEIN  EEETS
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In addition to monitoring the impact of the principal risks that the Group is
now facing by adjusting its corporate strategies and mitigating measures,
the management will keep observing if there is any emerging risk which may
affect the Group significantly on a regular basis.
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To enhance its accountability and promote transparency, the Company is

committed to maintaining channels for communication with its shareholders.

Providing information

Corporate communications are prepared in both English and Chinese
versions and in plain language so as to make the documents understandable.
Such documents are despatched to shareholders and released to the public

domain in a timely manner.

Information released by the Company to the HKEx is posted on the

Company’s website (http://aihl.etnet.com.hk/eng/ca_calendar.php) thereafter.

The Articles of Association of the Company which spell out shareholders’
rights can be found on the websites of the Company and the HKEx. During
the financial year ended 31 March 2019, there were no changes made to the

Articles of Association of the Company.

Encouraging participation/interaction

The Company’s annual general meeting provides a forum for face-to-
face communication between shareholders and the Board. Shareholders
are encouraged to participate in general meetings or to appoint proxies
to attend, speak and vote at meetings for and on their behalf if they are
unable to attend. Board members, in particular, the Chairman of the Board
and chairmen of the Board committees, or their delegates, appropriate
management staff and the Company’s external auditor normally attend

annual general meetings to answer shareholders’ questions.
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Encouraging participation/interaction (continued)
Shareholders are also provided with means by which their enquiries can
be put forward to the Board. Such channels, including designated email

address (aihlcosec@tianteckgroup.com), correspondence address, fax

number and telephone number, are made available on the Company’s
website. Queries relating to shareholders’ own shareholdings should be
directed to the Company’s share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

Subject to applicable legislation and regulations, in particular the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, the Listing Rules and the Articles of Association of
the Company as amended from time to time, shareholders of the Company
(“Shareholders”, and each a “Shareholder”) may convene general meetings
and put forward proposals at general meetings. The relevant procedure is

set out below:

To convene an Annual General Meeting (“AGM”)
o The Company holds a general meeting as its AGM every year. An

AGM is usually held in September.

° If the Company fails to hold an AGM (which is unlikely to occur) after
6 months have elapsed since the end of the Company’s financial year,
any Shareholder may apply to the court in Hong Kong which, on such

application, may call or direct the calling of an AGM of the Company.
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Encouraging participation/interaction (Continued)

To move a resolution at an AGM

Shareholder(s) can make a request to circulate a resolution for an

AGM if they represent at least:

(@) 2.5% of the total voting rights of all the Shareholders who
have a right to vote on the resolution at the AGM to which the

request relates; or

(b) 50 Shareholders who have a right to vote on the resolution at

the AGM to which the request relates.

The request must:

(@) be sent in hard copy form to the Deputy Chairman of the
Board at 9th Floor, iISQUARE, 63 Nathan Road, Tsim Sha Tsui,

Kowloon, Hong Kong, the registered office of the Company;

(b) identify the proposed resolution;

() be signed by all the Shareholder(s) concerned; and

(d) be received by the Company not later than 6 weeks before the
AGM to which the request relates or if later, the time at which

notice of the AGM is despatched.

The request will be verified with the Company’s share registrar and
upon its confirmation that the request is proper and in order, the
company secretary will request the Board to include the resolution
in the agenda for the AGM. On the contrary, if the request is verified
as not in order, the Shareholder(s) concerned will be advised of this
outcome and accordingly, the proposed resolution will not be included
in the agenda for the AGM.

Annual Report 2018-2019 F

31



32

TEERHE Corporate Governance Report

BE2HEEEHE @)
BEBREAR

HERARERRAE ERRNOBIRERR
&R IR ERARREETARR
RAE -

(@ MEAHAKNAELEEZEBHH
—fRIEE

b)) FEISANEAELIAEHEE L
RARE LB ZRBRNA

(€  FIAEMBIARITAI AR

(o) AKX R B R
— BB NBERY BB 635
[E59E - WARERGRTFRE K

(€) WMAEMAMBRRERE -

HLESEBARBZREELRZE - EE
TEREBHENREZER  RANESERES
SAMBRAE - WIEEBERAMBER
BRRFEHFTRHBA - AR - HEZERE
BRERTZE  HERRSEBNZER
BRERAETEL TS EELMAR o

ERANEZIRRO BRI RA L
ARBRERAE - FtfmZ 5 8RR & IRE
RBRZAEG ZBMEEHAHR2BRA
T o

L

MARBEELERERBRBRAE © 1
BRI E PER A REAREIRARR
D2 —HBRERAUBITRFAFBER
g AL ERNRKSEREEEXER
REEER3ME A NAER - ARBNMARE
RAFBRRRGHORRITEEFARNESRE
ZRBRBRRAEMIIBHAEMX -

Encouraging participation/interaction (Continued)

To convene a General Meeting (“GM”)

Associated International Hotels Limited S\EEIFEEA R A T

Shareholder(s) representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of
all the Shareholders having a right to vote at GMs can request the

Directors to call a GM.

The request:

(@) must state the general nature of the business to be dealt with

at the meeting;

(b)  may include the text of a resolution that may properly be moved

and is intended to be moved at the meeting;

(c) may consist of several documents in like form;

(d) must be sent in hard copy form to the Deputy Chairman of the
Board at 9th Floor, iISQUARE, 63 Nathan Road, Tsim Sha Tsui,

Kowloon, Hong Kong, the registered office of the Company; and

(e) must be signed by all the Shareholder(s) concerned.

The request will be verified with the Company’s share registrar and
upon its confirmation that the request is proper and in order, the
company secretary will request the Board to convene a GM by serving
sufficient notice in accordance with the statutory requirements to all
the registered Shareholders. On the contrary, if the request is verified
as not in order, the Shareholder(s) concerned will be advised of this

outcome and accordingly, a GM will not be convened as requested.

Directors must call a GM within 21 days after the date on which they
become subject to the requirement and the meeting so called must
be held on a date not more than 28 days after the date of the notice

convening the meeting.

If the Directors do not convene a GM as required, the Shareholder(s)
concerned or any of them representing more than one half of the total
voting rights of all of them may themselves call a GM, and the meeting
so convened must be called for a date not more than 3 months after
the date on which the Directors become subject to the requirement
to call a GM. The Company must reimburse any reasonable expenses
incurred by the Shareholder(s) requesting the GM by reason of the

failure of the Directors duly to call a GM.
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Encouraging participation/interaction (Continued)

To propose a person other than a Director of the Company for

election as a Director at a GM, including an AGM

In accordance with its Articles of Association, the Company at the
meeting at which a Director retires may fill the vacated office by
electing a person thereto. If a Shareholder (other than the person
to be nominated as mentioned hereinafter), who is duly qualified
to attend and vote at the GM for which the notice of intention as
hereinafter described is to be given, wishes to propose a person other
than a retiring Director of the Company for election as a Director of
the Company at any GM, he/she should sign and deposit a notice of
intention to that effect at 9th Floor, iISQUARE, 63 Nathan Road, Tsim
Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong, the registered office of the Company,
for the attention of the Board together with a notice signed by the
nominated person of his/her willingness to be elected. The minimum
length of period during which such notices are given shall be at least
7 days and the period for lodgement shall commence no earlier than
the day after despatch of the notice of the meeting appointed for such
election (inclusive of such day) and end no later than 7 days prior to

the date of such GM (“Lodgement Period”).

To enable the Company to inform Shareholders of the foregoing
proposal, the written notices as mentioned above shall be
accompanied by (i) the information of the nominated person as
required to be disclosed under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules and
(i) the written consent of the nominated person to the publication of

his/her personal data.

Relevant procedure and the Lodgement Period for each GM will
be set out in the corresponding circular to be despatched to the

Shareholders.

If the notice is received less than 15 clear days prior to the GM,
the Company will consider adjourning the GM in order to allow
Shareholders at least 14 clear days or 10 clear business days’ notice

of the proposal, whichever is the longer.
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Encouraging participation/interaction (continued)
Circulation of Statement at a GM, including an AGM

Eligible Shareholders can express their views on a matter mentioned
in a proposed resolution or other business to be dealt with at a GM
in a written statement of not more than 1,000 words and request the
Company to circulate it to Shareholders entitled to receive notice of a

GM. Eligible Shareholders must represent at least:

(@) 2.5% of the total voting rights of all the Shareholders having the

relevant right to vote; or

(b) 50 Shareholders having the relevant right to vote.

For a statement concerning a matter mentioned in a proposed

resolution, “the relevant right to vote” means a right to vote on that

resolution at the meeting to which the request relates. For a statement
concerning other business, “the relevant right to vote” means a right
to vote at the meeting to which the request relates.

The request must:

(a) be sent in hard copy form to the Deputy Chairman of the
Board at 9th Floor, iISQUARE, 63 Nathan Road, Tsim Sha Tsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong, the registered office of the Company;

(o) identify the statement to be circulated;

(c) be signed by all the Shareholder(s) concerned; and

(d) be received by the Company at least 7 days before the meeting

to which it relates.
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B2 BB E) Encouraging participation/interaction (Continued)
PRRRE RS (BIERERAEAS)EHRME(E) Circulation of Statement at a GM, including an AGM (Continued)
. ZERERARNTRERELREZE - EHET . The request will be verified with the Company’s share registrar and

H\ BAENEZE%  NATBREREZEIK upon its confirmation that the request is proper and in order, the

BEMBRREEZRNE  EBHFAUT Company will circulate the statement to Shareholders entitled to

P receive notice of the meeting provided that:

(a) WMZEXRSEBREAFAZ (@  ifthe request relates to an AGM,

() FRAENERRXRERR ()  the statement is received in time to enable the Company
LSRN B AR AR R A E to send a copy of the statement at the same time as the
RemE 7 HBEIAR—HEF notice of AGM is despatched; or
E

iy HEI- EEREETERIE (i)  otherwise, the Shareholder(s) concerned have, not
BERESRI7TREF—£61ER later than 7 days before the AGM, deposited a sum
EIFRIB - AR R REE reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in
BIFE R AR R IR X MY PRt & 1 2= circulating the statement submitted by the Shareholder(s)
AR - concerned.

(o) WMZBIF RIRE EE RS AN (o) if the request relates to a GM other than an AGM, the
RAE  HERRATERARRERS Shareholder(s) concerned have, not later than 7 days before
RI7TREF—FEEEWAOIE - A the GM, deposited a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the
XA EE BB AR B AR SRR A A PR Company'’s expenses in circulating the statement submitted by
MEMEEMNAY - the Shareholder(s) concerned.

B MEZERLEEATELE (AN On the contrary, if the request is verified as not in order or as not

Al BE K B U B R alt 2 1 78 EL B AR 48 AR B received in time for the Company to include a copy of the statement

FEXE@EN - sHEBRER KRNI TE in the notice of AGM or the Shareholder(s) concerned has/have failed

(R NETFE R AR RIEAS M AR RIEEE A to deposit sufficient money to meet the Company’s expenses for

BHRS (RTIER) - HERRGERNE the circulation purpose within the time frame (as the case may be),

BER Rl EMA BT REEERIR the Shareholder(s) concerned will be advised of this outcome and

RAGREMRREE accordingly, the statement will not be circulated to Shareholders

entitled to receive notice of the meeting.
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Dividend policy

With the aim of providing Shareholders with a sustainable dividend stream,
the Company adopted a dividend policy in November 2018. This policy
provides guidelines to the Board in determining dividends. It clearly sets out
considerations the Board shall take into account when proposing dividends.
These factors include, inter alia, financial performance, working capital
requirements and future development plans of the Company and general
economic environment. Subject to all applicable laws, rules, regulations and
the Articles of Association of the Company, the Board may declare dividends
provided that there is a profit (excluding valuation changes) for the year/
period concerned. To give flexibility to the Board in making payout decisions
after having regard to the circumstances then pertaining, the dividend policy
does not specify any payout ratio, the form dividends shall take or frequency
it shall be declared. This policy will be subject to review by the Board from

time to time and be updated as and when considered necessary.
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Being a responsible enterprise, the Company is not only concerned with
its financial growth but also its non-financial performance. The Company
recognises that the manner in which it conducts business will impact on
the environment and society. As such, the management strives to make a
positive contribution to the sustainability development of the environment
and society by integrating the socially responsible practices in its daily
operation. The Executive Directors are responsible for driving environmental
and social responsibilities initiatives and reviewing their practices for
performance improvement whilst the Board assumes an overall responsibility

for the Company’s environmental and social strategy and reporting.

This Corporate Social Responsibility Report provides a review on the Group’s
performance of its environmental and social responsibilities for the financial
year ended 31 March 2019. As iISQUARE is the Group’s main business

operation, its performance is included herein unless otherwise specified.

This report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide (“Guide”) as set out in Appendix 27 to the
Listing Rules. Its content is determined through a process which involves
identification of stakeholders and relevant issues in relation to environmental
and social responsibilities and prioritisation of the issues to be reported
after taking into account the stakeholders’ expectations and the Group’s
unique business nature. In this report, only the environmental and social
responsibilities initiatives and performance that are material and/or relevant
to the Group and its stakeholders are outlined. During the financial year
ended 31 March 2019, the Company complied with all the “comply or

explain” provisions, where applicable, set out in the Guide.

To truly understand the views and expectations of the stakeholders on
sustainability development, the Company keeps ongoing communication
with its key stakeholders. During the year under review, the Company
engaged its shareholders, employees, business partners and tenants
through face-to-face discussions and/or questionnaires. Reporting issues
are identified according to the impact of the issues on the Group’s business
and stakeholders as evaluated by the management and the stakeholders

respectively.
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Policy

Since the management acknowledges that the Group shall take into account
the impact of its business operation on the environment while achieving
financial growth, the Group has adopted an environmental policy with a
focus on the following:

1. ensuring full compliance with applicable legislation and requirements

2. incorporating environmental considerations into contracting decisions

and tenant selection where practicable
3. promoting environmental awareness among staff
4, adopting eco-friendly practices in daily operation
5. disposing of waste in an environmentally responsible way
6. reducing waste and where practicable, reusing and recycling materials
7. communicating the Group’s policy to its key stakeholder and

encouraging it to integrate the environmental concerns into its

operation process
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Initiatives

In order to support environmental conservation, the Group, in addition to its
practice in collecting used/useless lai see packets for recycling, participated
in the lai see packets reuse programme organised by Greeners Action
during the year under review by sponsoring it for the event and providing
iISQUARE as one of the collection points. The Group also took part in “Earth
Hour 2019” and “No Air Con Night 2018” organised by World Wide Fund for
Nature (“WWF”) and Green Sense respectively so as to raise environmental

awareness in the workplace.

Simultaneously, the Group continues to operate office facilities in an

environmentally responsible manner, for instance:

o using water-saving sanitary fittings, such as dual flushing cisterns and

photo-sensor water taps

o purchasing white paper with FSC certification only

o disposing of used paper which is good for recycling through a paper

recycling company

. employing multi-zone lighting controls
o returning used toners/cartridges to suppliers for recycling
o using environmentally friendly paper for printing corporate

communication to shareholders

. switching off air-conditioning, lights and computers when they are not

in use
To adhere to the principle of reusing and recycling materials as laid down in

the environmental policy, the Group would donate all the computers which

have been scheduled to be replaced in the coming financial year to charities.
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Initiatives (continued)

For the purpose of matching up the Group’s concern over environmental
protection, iISQUARE, being the Group’s main business operation, also
takes proactive steps towards this end. During the year under review, it
participated in “Earth Hour 2019” as organised by WWF and provided venue
at a substantially discounted rate to WWF for promoting environmental

awareness through activities such as sea glass jewelry workshop.

In addition to the aforesaid, iISQUARE keeps employing those green

measures it has been using, such as:

o use of ultra low sulphur diesel for generator
° diversion of used water from cooling towers for flushing
o reviewing and, where possible, shortening daily operating hours of

lights and air-conditioning at common areas accessible by shoppers

o encouraging tenants to follow guidelines in relation to environmentally
friendly practices and providing them with hints thereon through
iISQUARE publications

o recycling waste paper, plastics and metals via the participation of
the “Programme on Source Separation of Commercial and Industrial

Waste” as organised by the Environmental Protection Department

o equipping the building with energy saving features and materials,
such as the use of glass curtain walls to minimise lighting sources and
window films with anti-UV coating to reduce solar radiation and heat,

where appropriate
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Initiatives (continued)

With the implementation of various energy saving initiatives during the year
under review, the amount of electricity purchased from power company
and the indirect greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions generated therefrom
reduced by approximately 8.25% and 26.89% respectively (details of which
are shown in the table below) when compared with the baseline figures of

the financial year ended 31 March 2015, the first year energy numbers were

collected.

BZE3AIHLFE

Year ended 31 March
2019 2018 2015
F15 B (E%)
Issues Unit (Baseline)
BE=E JKEL /B 12,427.01 12,332.26 13,544.42

Amount of purchased electricity MWh

HEEMBENE I MEENEERAEREHERE AE_S(tIRE S 6,337.78 6,289.45 8,668.43

Indirect GHG emissions from purchased electricity

tonnes of CO, equivalent

RE-—FPRIREE  BRELSSEESHAE
UBEZET ZH BB AEERESD ERARRE
BERTEI -

To further reduce electricity consumption, ISQUARE will continue its energy
saving programme on lighting system through the identification of locations

where more energy efficient lights could be installed.
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1. BRERBHN (Z&lmRESs)

Performance

Since the Group is principally engaged in property investment and
investment holding, and iSQUARE is predominantly service-oriented, the
total amount of direct GHG emissions generated by them is relatively small.
The largest contributor to the carbon footprint of the Group (including
iISQUARE) in the year under review was the indirect GHG emissions from

electricity consumption.

1. GHG emissions' (CO, equivalent)

BEIANHLFE

B By Year ended 31 March

Indicators Unit 2019 2018

BEXR(#E1)

Direct sources (Scope 1)

o L N 0.72 0.73
Diesel? tonnes

ETEZEXRIR (EE2)

Indlirect sources (Scope 2)!

o« TS NI 6,370.51 6,323.50
Electricity® tonnes

B b5 47 (#E3)

Other indlirect sources (Scope 3)!

o FER/KMEAMNEN N 25.17 20.51
Electricity used for processing fresh water* tonnes

o EIR)SKMEMAREN® NI 13.52 10.33
Electricity used for processing sewage® tonnes

o EEMMEEAER NI 1.46 0.39
Paper waste disposed at landfills® tonnes
ERBEEINE (HET - 2%3) N 6,411.38 6,355.46

Total GHG emissions (Scopes 1, 2 and 3) tonnes

i 5 18 = R B8 HE Ik

GHG emissions avoided

o HRIREIUK NI (202.85) (200.59)
Recycling of paper” tonnes
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RIEEE @) Environmental Issues (continued)
=B @) Performance (Continued)
2. BERBRE 2. Energy consumption

BB EFE

Direct energy consumption

o ZOh® JKEL N 3.02 3.09
Diesel® MWh

[ETEEBE R EFE

Indlirect energy consumption

o TFS° JKFL/ s 12,491.20 12,399.02
Electricity® MWh

R ERERE PSS 12,494.22 12,402.11

Total energy consumption MWh

Y FREMEE ERERES JEFL/NEE, TR 0.24 0.23

Total energy consumption per m? of floor area MWh/m?

3. #EREREC 3. Paper consumption'

o MAEAE NIy 552.43 496.87
Office paper kg

o EBARIBAALRK NI 398.32 393.34
Paper for printing corporate communication kg

BIERE NI 950.75 890.21

Total paper consumption kg
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=IE @) Performance (Continued)
4. FKkE" 4. Water consumption'
BZEANHLEE
Eit: By Year ended 31 March
Indicators Unit 2019 2018
BRXKE AV 62,309.00 50,968.00
Total water consumption m3
BYAKEEEEZ AKES SRR K 1.17 0.96
Total water consumption per m? of floor area ms3/m?
AR ANEBERERVNBIRELS » MEBERE As the Group is situated at iISQUARE where water is provided by the
2 HOKTIRBKEE - HAEE(BER Water Supplies Department, the Group (including iISQUARE) has not
BRES)ERATEELYRE F/KBREER encountered any problem in sourcing water for daily operation.
EfAfERE -
5 EYER 5. Waste management
BZE3AALEE
BE B Year ended 31 March
Indicators Unit 2019 2018
RERBIRE IR EEY”
Non-hazardous waste disposed at landfills'?
ZENHERNEZREYEE AN 1,975.95 1,799.98
Total non-hazardous waste disposed at landfills tonnes
BYHARHEEBZRENEERNEZEZDEE RME, T J5 K 0.04 0.03
Total non-hazardous waste disposed at tonnes/m?
landfills per m? of floor area
R B
Waste collected for recycling
o IR NI 42,260.00 41,790.00
Paper® kg
o BREM NI 231.00 246.00
Plastics' kg
e ©E" Ny 179.00 177.00
Metals™ kg
o HE BR" (&5 17 15
Toners/cartridges'® pieces
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Performance (Continued)

Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

Note 4:

Note 5:

GHG emissions, including classification and calculation basis, are based on
the “Guidelines to Account for and Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and
Removals for Buildings (Commercial, Residential or Institutional Purposes)
in Hong Kong” as prepared by the Electrical and Mechanical Services
Department and the Environmental Protection Department (“Hong Kong GHG
Guidelines”). All numbers in this table, where applicable, are rounded to two
decimal places.

Boundary for the scopes

Scope 1 is the direct GHG emissions from the emergency generator owned

and controlled by iISQUARE. It excludes any offsets, if available.

Scope 2 is the indirect GHG emissions that are resulted from the generation

of electricity which the Group (including iISQUARE but excluding tenants which
purchased power through their own metered supply) purchased from power

company for own consumption.

Scope 3 is other indirect GHG emissions that (i) come from paper waste
disposed by the Group at landfills and (i) are relevant to the activities of the
Group and iISQUARE and are generated due to electricity used for processing
fresh water and sewage, excluding those operated from tenants’ own metered
supply, by government departments.

The breakdown of the Scope 1 GHG emissions in respect of the financial
year ended 31 March 2019 is as follows: carbon dioxide (0.72 tonnes of CO,
equivalent), methane (0.0001 tonnes of CO, equivalent) and nitrous oxide
(0.0006 tonnes of CO, equivalent).

Emissions are calculated as per the amount of diesel consumed by the
emergency generator of iISQUARE and the emission factors and the Global
Warming Potentials set out in the Hong Kong GHG Guidelines.

Emissions are calculated according to the amount of electricity purchased by
the Group (including iISQUARE) for own consumption as shown in electricity
bills and the latest emission factor as published by the relevant electricity
provider.

Emissions are calculated based on the amount of water consumed by the
Group (including ISQUARE) as shown in water bills and the latest available
unit electricity consumption of fresh water as published by the Water Supplies
Department multiplied by the territory-wide default value.

Emissions are calculated based on the amount of water consumed by the
Group (including iISQUARE) as shown in water bills and the latest available unit
electricity consumption of processing sewage as published by the Drainage
Services Department multiplied by the territory-wide default value.
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Performance (Continued)

Note 6: Emissions are calculated based on the amount of office paper consumed by
the Group (excluding paper generated by the management company engaged
to run iISQUARE (“MgtCo”) for any purpose in relation to iISQUARE) net of
office paper collected for recycling and the relevant emission factor set out in
the Hong Kong GHG Guidelines.

Note 7: Emissions avoided are calculated according to the amount of paper collected
for recycling (including paper generated within the Group, paper tendered by
external parties to the Group, and paper disposed through iISQUARE) and the
relevant emission factor provided in the Hong Kong GHG Guidelines.

Note 8: Energy consumption is calculated based on the amount of diesel consumed
by the emergency generator at iISQUARE and the relevant conversion factor
set out in the “List of common conversion factors (Engineering conversion
factors)” as published by IOR Energy Pty Ltd.

Note 9: Energy consumption is the amount of electricity purchased by the Group
(including iISQUARE) for own consumption as shown in electricity bills.

Note 10: Referring to paper generated by the Group only (excluding paper generated
by the MgtCo for any purpose in relation to iISQUARE).

Note 11: Being the amount of water used by the Group (including iISQUARE) as shown

in water bills.

Note 12: Being the estimated amount of general waste disposed through iISQUARE,
including those generated by the Group. Such amount is derived based on
the average daily amount of general waste as collected and weighed by
the cleaning contractor of iISQUARE at different time slots multiplied by the
number of days in a year.

Note 13: Including paper generated within the Group, paper tendered by external
parties to the Group, and paper disposed through iISQUARE.

Note 14: Being plastics disposed through iSQUARE.
Note 15: Being metals disposed through iSQUARE.

Note 16: Being toners/cartridges used by the Group.

Due to their business nature, the Group (including iISQUARE) does not
generate a material amount of hazardous waste and disclosure of total

packaging material used for finished products is not applicable.

Save as disclosed above, the operating activities of the Group (including
iISQUARE) have no significant impact on the environment and natural

resources.
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Compliance with environmental-related laws and
regulations

During the year under review, the Group was not aware of any non-
compliance with any relevant laws and regulations relating to the
environment that had a significant impact on it.

Since the management of iISQUARE has been outsourced to the MgtCo
and there is no need for the Group to directly deal with employment-related
matters in respect of ISQUARE, discussion on areas relating to social issues
only covers the Group and does not include staff of the MgtCo employed for
general building and property management of iSQUARE.

Employment

As the Group’s success depends largely on the support of its employeeste,
the management places great emphasis on maintaining a quality workplace.
Building up a culture which advocates ethical and responsible business
practices has become essential. To this end, the Group has adopted a
general code of conduct (“Code”) which applies to both Directors and
employees and deals with areas of data privacy, copyright protection,
prevention of bribery, “whistle-blowing” and equal opportunities. According
to the Code, employees are required to observe the requirements of the Sex
Discrimination Ordinance, the Disability Discrimination Ordinance, the Family
Status Discrimination Ordinance and the Race Discrimination Ordinance and
their respective codes of practice. In addition, the Group has laid down an
employment policy, setting out its principles on recruitment and promotion,
such as equal opportunities and “selection on capability” basis. Procedures
and factors to be considered on review of the remuneration packages of the
senior management are delineated in the remuneration policy. Information in
respect of the Group’s remuneration review mechanism is mentioned in the
Corporate Governance Report headed “Remuneration committee” as set out
on pages 15 to 17. To be consistent with the principles of the employment
policy on motivating employees and providing equal opportunities,
performance appraisal is conducted annually. It is the basis for salary
adjustment, discretionary bonus and promotion.

Although policies on compensation and dismissal, working hours and rest
periods, and some other benefits and welfare are not put in writing, relevant
steps to govern their application and due observance have been developed
and implemented under the management of the Executive Directors of the
Company.

Note: Staff/employees exclude Directors of the Company and staff employed by the
MgtCo for general building and property management of iISQUARE throughout
this Corporate Social Responsibility Report.

Annual Report 2018-2019 F

47



48

TEHEETHRSE Corporate Social Responsibilicty Report

R R
RET—AHHE T HREXEERTDET
BEMNTERE  ASERMARRINE TRHE
HETFRRRZINER - ENREEEASRE
RN - AERERZEE T TRINOIME IS
FIEB) o BRAERE LS - AERBETTE R
BRI HERIE -

AFERBTIFIFMS R EHE B -

s EFNARLEEEHM
s REELZE2EH
o [FLEERIEHER

BEMNZHE

MR TFREARNFEHREMSIFER - K
SESFBMEIENARMARNTKIE WA
ILHEEUREREE LR - RAFE AR
AEFER I REREKE2E[RE-RBEMHR
HRRAZZN] - FROPIEMES 2 R IRER

I o

BEARNEEWEEBAH PR SABLUED - A&
EEsHE T RENEEABREINERE
o BEAPITERAEIMEBIN - REEEHT
FEREXE BEEEEHETIERYM <8
TAERERAEEEEHRREERRE

EERERENHSESHAERAERRE %Iﬂl
ERENEANBENS —SERE - EEE

DEREHER - UERHE - FRENPE

Development and training

In order to create a supportive workplace which enables the employees to
develop their professional potential and discharge their duties adequately,
the Group provides subsidy for job-related training to all employees,
irrespective of their rankings. Given the complexity of job duties, senior
management is provided with additional funding for outside training. Other
than financial support, the Group also organises group-wide training for its

staff from time to time.

Key topics covered by the training undertaken by the employees during the

year under review included:

o compliance and regulatory updates
o health and safety issues
o prevention of bribery

Employee engagement

Since a good work-life balance is considered significant to the employees,
the Group encourages its staff to complete their tasks within office hours
and organises gatherings for them so as to promote the spirit of the Group.
During the year under review, the Company invited not only its staff but also
their family members to participate in “TWGHs Halloween Charity Run”,

which enabled them to do exercise and cultivate relationship simultaneously.

Although the Group does not have a collective bargaining policy or similar
practice in place, it respects its employees and takes steps to ensure their
voices are heard. Other than departmental meetings and communication
through emails, the Group encourages direct dialogue between the
management and staff by adopting a non-bureaucratic culture. Employees
can freely bring up issues to the management when they consider

necessary.

Employee satisfaction survey is another important means for the Group to
solicit staff opinions about their working environment and expectation. Result
will be shared by the management so as to identify ways to make further

improvement.
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Employee engagement (Continued)

During the year under review, a satisfaction survey on employees was
conducted. Around 77% (2018: 77%) of the respondents found either
satisfied or very satisfied with the Group as a whole whilst about 71%
(2018: 68%) was happy with the workforce-management relationship. As at
31 March 2019, more than half of the employees have been working with the
Group over a decade. The employee turnover rate for the financial year
ended 31 March 2019 was about 3.17% (2018: 12.50%) while the employee
absence rate was around 1.72% (2018: 1.28%).

Health and safety

Since the Group’s main business is property investment and investment
holding, health and safety risks posed to its employees as a result of
occupational activities are relatively low. Nevertheless, the Group is
dedicated to provide a healthy and safe work environment to its staff and

therefore has established a policy in this regard with an emphasis on:
o compliance with all applicable statutory requirements

o ensuring a continuous improvement of the health and safety level
at workplace by reviewing the operating practices and seeking

comments from employees from time to time

o adopting measures which can reduce, control and if possible,

eliminate hazards at workplace

o conveying the Group’s concerns over health and safety to the MgtCo
and requesting it to get its front-line staff and contractors familiarised

with the proper procedures required in that regard

During the year under review, the Group carried out an assessment on risks
associated with manual handling operations by referencing to the “Guidance
Notes on Manual Handling Operations” jointly published by the Occupational
Safety and Health Council and the Labour Department with the aim to
improve the safety level of the work environment. To raise occupational
health awareness among staff, the Group also organised a talk delivered
by the Labour Department as regards relation between work pressure and

common gastrointestinal diseases.
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Labour standards
While the Group does not have its own specific policy regarding child labour
or forced labour, it is a statutory requirement in Hong Kong, a place where

the Group operates, not to engage child and forced labour.

During the year under review, the Group was not aware of any non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that had a significant
impact on it relating to employment, health and safety, and labour standards

as mentioned in aspects B1, B2 and B4 of the Guide.

Supply chain management

Given the Group’s business nature and operation mode, its suppliers can
broadly be categorised into direct suppliers and indirect suppliers. For the
former one, it refers to those the Group directly liaises with, such as the
MgtCo, professional service providers and some other companies that
deliver services for support of the Group’s infrastructure and office operation
on areas such as insurance, banking and information technology. Services
of the indirect suppliers, such as electrical and mechanical engineering,
cleaning and security, are provided under the umbrella of the MgtCo. Based
on the expenditure level and the significance to the Group, the Group’s key
suppliers are bankers and the MgtCo, of which, the role of the latter one is
particularly important given its “contracting” relationships with the indirect

suppliers.

Since suppliers are the “extension” of the Group, their behaviour shall reflect
the Group’s values. Although the Group does not maintain a separate
policy on managing environmental and social risks of its suppliers, it has
embedded the relevant concerns in its environmental policy and health and
safety policy. As the MgtCo is the key supplier which poses a significant
impact on the Group, it is provided with relevant policies of the Group in the
hope that it can convey the Group’s concerns to the indirect suppliers. The
MgtCo is also requested to integrate the Group’s values into its operation
process where practicable and economically viable. Apart from written
communication, the Group has frequent direct dialogue and regular meetings
with the MgtCo. According to the said policies, the Group also reviews
its practices from time to time so as to reduce health and safety risks at
workplace and incorporates environmental considerations into contracting

decisions where practicable.
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Supply chain management (Continued)

Although more than 60% of the suppliers have been a working partner of
the Group over a decade, the Group values the relationships with them
and is eager to know if there is any room for improvement. To achieve it, a
satisfaction survey was sent to some suppliers on a random basis during the
year under review. The feedback of the survey was encouraging. It showed
that around 83% (2018: 100%) of the respondents found partnering with the

Group was not merely mutually beneficial, but also as a whole satisfactory.

Product/service responsibility

Shop tenants of ISQUARE are the Group’s key customers. Establishing a
sound and lasting relationship with them is pivotal to the success of the
Group. To facilitate a two-way communication, the management team pays
visits to the shops when required so as to exchange views with the tenants
directly and respond to their concerns efficiently. The tenants can also
contact the management, leasing and promotion teams via telephone and
email as and when needed. As a means to ensure tenants’ dissatisfaction, if
any, is properly addressed to in a timely manner, a formal complaint-handling

mechanism is in place as well.

In order to evaluate the services delivered to the tenants and identify service
gaps, the Group during the year under review conducted a satisfaction
survey on about half of its tenants. From the survey result and through the
interaction with the tenants, it was noted that there were some areas such as
technical/maintenance services and marketing the Group had to further work

on.

Other than customer satisfaction, the Group also recognises the importance
of personal data protection. Relevant concerns have been incorporated into
the Code and are communicated to the employees. According to the Code,
employees are required to safeguard the privacy and security of personal
information of the Group’s stakeholders by observing the data protection
principles of the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance. Collected information is
accessible on a “need-to-know” basis. In view of the close relationship with
the MgtCo, the Group has also made known to it of the Group’s concerns in

this regard.
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Product/service responsibility (continued)

Providing a safe environment to the tenants is also a great concem to the
Group. Although property management of iISQUARE is the job of the MgtCo,
the Group still closely monitors it by receiving updates from the MgtCo via
regular project meetings and daily report. On top of it, the project team also
patrols iISQUARE on a daily basis so as to ensure it is managed in an orderly
fashion. As for ad hoc issues, the MgtCo is required to report to the Group

promptly.

Anti-corruption

As the Group has zero-tolerance on any forms of bribery, corruption and
fraud, it has established a policy detailing situations in which acceptance of
advantages is allowed. Key principles concerning prevention of bribery and
channel for reporting suspected cases are set out in the Code. Employees
are required to undertake their adherence thereto. Besides, internal control
activities are in place to detect malpractices. Upon receipt of any reported
issues, the management will conduct investigation and handle them in the

manner set out in the Code.

To help staff stay alert to the pitfall of bribery and enhance their integrity, a
training video produced by Hong Kong Business Ethics Development Centre

was televised to all its staff during the year under review.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2019, the Group was not aware
of any non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that had a
significant impact on it relating to product responsibility and anti-corruption as

mentioned in aspects B6 and B7 of the Guide.
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Community

In recognition of its role in advancement of the community, the Group has
established a community policy. General principles on donation, focus areas,
and the form in which the support is delivered are clearly set out therein.
During the year under review, the Group made donations to Po Leung Kuk,
The Community Chest of Hong Kong, Greeners Action, Tung Wah Group
of Hospitals and Suicide Prevention Services Limited. To put words into
actions, the Group also mobilised its staff to take part in “TWGHs Halloween
Charity Run” and “Dress Casual Day” as organised by Tung Wah Group of

Hospitals and The Community Chest of Hong Kong respectively.

The Group believes that going beyond corporate philanthropy by providing
venues to organisations for hosting charitable events is the best way to help
the needy as it can inspire others to follow and draw the public attention to
the needs of the underprivileged. During the financial year ended 31 March
2019, the Group offered venues at a substantially discounted rate to the

following charities:

o Autism Partnership Foundation

. Médecins Sans Frontieres

. MF Music & Art Promotional Association
. Plan International

o WWF

° Chinese YMCA of Hong Kong

Other than giving support to individual charities for hosting specific events,
the Group also showed its continuous care to the local community by
granting Po Leung Kuk, an iconic charity in Hong Kong, a licence for placing

a donation box at ISQUARE throughout the year in question.
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The Board of Directors (the “Board” or the “Directors”) has pleasure in
submitting the annual report together with the audited financial statements of

the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019.

Associated International Hotels Limited (the “Company”) is a company
incorporated and domiciled in Hong Kong and has its registered office and
principal place of business at 9th Floor, ISQUARE, 63 Nathan Road, Tsim

Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The principal activities of the Company are property investment and
investment holding. The principal activities and other particulars of the

subsidiaries are set out in note 13 to the financial statements.

The analysis of the principal activities and geographical locations of the
operations of the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as
the “Group”) during the financial year is set out in note 4 to the financial

statements.

The financial performance of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019
and the Group’s financial position as at that date are set out in the financial

statements on pages 81 to 150.
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An interim dividend of HK$0.58 per share (2018: HK$0.60 per share) was
paid on 7 January 2019. The Board now recommends the payment of a final
dividend of HK$0.57 per share (2018: HK$0.59 per share) in respect of the
year ended 31 March 2019.

Subject to the members’ approval on the proposed final dividend at
the forthcoming annual general meeting, the register of members of the
Company will be closed for the purpose of determining entitlement to
the said final dividend from Monday, 16 September 2019 to Wednesday,
18 September 2019, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer
of shares will be effected. All transfers accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, Shops 1712-1716,
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
not later than 4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong time) on Friday, 13 September 2019.
The proposed final dividend will be paid on Wednesday, 2 October 2019 to
members whose names appear on the register of members on Wednesday,
18 September 2019 following approval at the annual general meeting to be

held on Tuesday, 10 September 2019.

For the purpose of determining the identity of members who are entitled to
attend and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting, the register of
members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 3 September 2019
to Tuesday, 10 September 2019, both days inclusive, during which period no
transfer of shares will be effected. All transfers accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, Shops 1712-1716,
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
not later than 4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong time) on Monday, 2 September 2019.
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Business model and strategies
The Group’s business is property investment in Hong Kong. The Group
generates and preserves its value through being an investor in the property

market.

To accomplish this, the Group strives to nurture growth from its existing
properties through prudent management. Whilst the Group generally
maintains a prudent and conservative approach towards property
investment, it also seeks to exploit opportunities for future development. With
the aim of securing stable and recurring returns, the Group has adopted
very stringent investment criteria and targets only high quality projects and

investments.

The Group recognises the importance of sound financial strength to support
sustainable growth and future development and hence, its fundamental
strategy is to maintain a solid financial position with strong cash flow and a

low gearing ratio.

Financial results

The Group achieved a profit from operations before valuation changes
in investment properties of HK$499.8 million for the financial year ended
31 March 2019, representing a decrease of approximately 3.2% compared
with the previous financial year. The decrease was mainly due to decrease in

rental income from iISQUARE compared to the previous financial year.

Net valuation losses on investment properties for the financial year ended
31 March 2019 amounted to HK$266.0 million, compared with the net
valuation losses of HK$269.8 million for the previous financial year. The
valuation losses will only affect the accounting profit or loss but not the

cash flow of the Group.

The Group recorded a profit attributable to equity shareholders of
HK$148.5 million, compared with a profit attributable to equity shareholders

of HK$159.3 million for the previous financial year.
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Financial results (Continued)

iISQUARE is a commercial complex housing retail, entertainment, food
and beverage establishments. Rental income from iSQUARE amounted to
approximately HK$606.8 million for the financial year ended 31 March 2019,
representing a decrease of approximately 3.5% compared with the previous
financial year. The occupancy rate at 31 March 2019 was approximately
92.9% (2018: 98.3%).

Capital structure and liquidity
The total equity for the Group at 31 March 2019 was HK$13,602.6 million,
compared with HK$13,875.3 million at 31 March 2018.

On 7 October 2013, the Company entered into a facility agreement with
a bank comprising of a 3-year term loan facility of up to HK$200 million
and a 3-year revolving loan facility of up to HK$100 million both at floating
interest rate. On 30 August 2016, the Company entered into a supplemental
agreement with the bank for extension of the facilities for three years to
8 October 2019. In comply with certain conditions, the facilities have been
further extended for two additional years to 8 October 2021. At 31 March
2019, the banking facilities were utilised to the extent of HK$200 million (2018:
HK$200 million) and the Group’s gearing ratio (calculated as total bank loans
divided by total equity) was 1.5% (2018: 1.4%).

Staff

At 31 March 2019, the total number of employees of the Group, excluding
the staff employed by Cushman & Wakefield Property Management Limited
for general building and property management of iISQUARE, was 36 (2018:
37) and the related costs incurred during the year were approximately
HK$26.5 million (2018: HK$25.5 million).

In addition to salaries, medical and retirement benefits, the Group pays
discretionary bonuses to its staff. Sponsorships for necessary outside

training courses are also provided by the Group to its staff.
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Key performance indicators
(@)  Cost of services to revenue ratio

Definition and calculation: Cost of services to revenue ratio
measures the operation efficiency by comparing cost of
services as a percentage of revenue. It shows the level of direct

expenditure required to generate every dollar of revenue.

Purpose: The Group emphasises cost control. The ratio
provides direction on controlling and better using expenses.
iISQUARE is the principal investment of the Group and it
contributed 99.4% of the Group’s revenue for the financial year
ended 31 March 2019 (2018: 99.4%). The extent to which this
goal has been achieved is assessed by comparing the ratio
for ISQUARE from one year to the next, as it is an indicator
showing the operation efficiency of iISQUARE.

Quantified KPI data: The cost of services to revenue ratio for
iISQUARE at 31 March 2019 was 14.2% (2018: 13.4%).

(b)  Occupancy rate

Definition and calculation: Occupancy rate is a measure that
reflects the leasing performance. It is defined as lettable area
that have been rented out as a percentage of the total lettable

area.

Purpose: The Group aims to enhance leasing performance.
The extent to which this goal has been achieved is assessed by
comparing occupancy rate for each investment property from
one year to the next, as it is an indicator showing the leasing
performance of various properties in the Group.

Quantified KPI data:

HA R

Occupancy rate
M2019F3H31H 720184 3H31H

REYE Investment properties At 31 March 2019 At 31 March 2018
BIPR 2 3% iISQUARE 92.9% 98.3%
TN EBEHMPGEYE  Other commercial properties in Hong Kong 100% 100%
UREEHM TEMZE Industrial properties in Hong Kong 100% 100%
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Environmental policies, performance and related

compliance; key relationships with stakeholders

Discussions on the Group’s environmental policies and performance,
compliance with environmental-related laws and regulations as well as
key relationships with its stakeholders as required by Schedule 5 to the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance can be found in the Corporate Social
Responsibility Report on pages 37 to 53 of the annual report, and such

discussions form part of this Directors’ Report.

Principal risks and uncertainties

Discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group as
required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance can be
found in the Corporate Governance Report headed “Risk Management and
Internal Control — Principal risks and uncertainties” as set out on pages 25
to 28 of the annual report, and such discussion forms part of this Directors’

Report.

Particulars of important events
The Board has not identified any important events affecting the Group that

have occurred since the end of the financial year.

Outlook

With the uncertain external economic environment together with the
anticipated increase in new supply of retail premises in the Tsim Sha Tsui
area, management would expect the leasing market to be challenging.
Management will continue to adopt appropriate leasing strategies to
minimise the likely impact on rental income from iISQUARE. It is anticipated
that rental income from iISQUARE and the results from operations of the

Group for the coming financial year will be affected.
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The Directors of the Company during the financial year and up to the date of

this report were:

Executive Directors
Cheong Hooi Hong
Cheong Kheng Lim
Cheong Keng Hooi
Cheong Sim Lam

Cheong Chong Ling

Non-executive Director
Sin Cho Chiu, Charles (vacated from office with effect from 26 June 2019)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Chow Wan Hoi, Paul

Wong Yiu Tak

Lee Chung

In accordance with articles 95 and 96 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Miss Cheong Chong Ling and Mr Lee Chung shall retire from
the Board by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being

eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

During the financial year and up to the date of this report, directors of all the
Company’s subsidiaries were Mr Cheong Hooi Hong, Mr Cheong Kheng

Lim, Mr Cheong Keng Hooi and Mr Cheong Sim Lam.

The executive directors (except Miss Cheong Chong Ling) were appointed
to their respective executive offices in the Company for an initial period of
two years effective on 1 January 1986 and their appointments continue after
the said period unless and until either party gives to the other three months’
notice in writing and their respective directorship shall also be subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company’s

Articles of Association.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has an unexpired service contract which is not determinable by
the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of

compensation, other than normal statutory obligations.
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The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and considers all the independent non-
executive directors to be independent.

As at 31 March 2019, the directors and chief executives of the Company
and their associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had the following
interests in the shares of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under section
352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model
Code”):

(@ AT (a) The Company
ZEREE
Number of ordinary shares
HERITH
BRER
BinEs B
B AR REER ATER wme =R
Total % of total
Personal Family Corporate beneficial issued voting
" Name interests interests interests interests shares
SEIBIE Cheong Hooi Hong 2,073,992 — - 2,073,992 0.58%
§EIRM Cheong Kheng Lim 24,555,715 1,034,000 —  25580,715 711%
EimE Cheong Keng Hooi 11,759,839 275,280 — 12,085,119 3.34%
fpedea) Cheong Sim Lam 1,807,155 24,000 — 1,831,155 0.51%
§EIRIS Cheong Chong Ling 1,588,000 — — 1,588,000 0.44%
VB R Sin Cho Chiu, Charles 242,000 — 120,000 362,000 0.10%
(%1) (Note 1) (332)(Note 2)
i Notes:
(1) ARRBIREAGERMANEUEEERB AL (1) In accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company, Mr Sin

ZEERL - YR -ZF-AFRXAZTAKA

© ARHESE T #9120,00008 BB EBR AR (—
AR E RERBUAESEREHLR
FEHIE A R)) BT §9120,0008% 2 @ A% - 17
BEFED - ARERBAERHLERNHH
RS o

Cho Chiu, Charles was vacated from his office as a director with effect
from 26 June 2019.

) The corporate interests of 120,000 shares represent 120,000 ordinary
shares held by Chason Limited (a company controlled by Mr Sin Cho
Chiu, Charles and his spouse in equal shares) where Mr Sin is taken to
be interested in such shares under the SFO.
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4 —] . . .
(b) REHMERRAT (b) Tian Teck Land Limited
REEE
Number of shares
HERITH
BRER
BiER REE
AR REER ATEER wme HES
Total % of total
Personal Family Corporate beneficial issued voting
a4 Name interests interests interests interests shares
fey Yl Cheong Hooi Hong 4,035,792 590,000 — 4,625,792 0.97%
SEIFHN Cheong Kheng Lim 46,023,872 115,292 — 46,139,164 9.72%
o) Cheong Keng Hooi 26,862,036 1,002,384 — 27,864,420 5.87%
$ELEEY Cheong Sim Lam 1,099,504 — — 1,099,504 0.23%
$EIRIS Cheong Chong Ling 412,000 — — 412,000 0.09%
AR RE Sin Cho Chiu, Charles 2,000 — 115,200 117,200 0.02%
(1) (Note 1) (7£2)(Note 2)
i Notes:
©) ARTEREAGERMBBUEEEE S E (1) In accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company, Mr Sin
ZEERMN YR - AFNAZ+H Cho Chiu, Charles was vacated from his office as a director with effect
HBAERK o from 26 June 2019.
©) NEER TH115200 R AR EBR AR (— ©) The corporate interests of 115,200 shares represent 115,200 shares

HEAEBTERERBUBRSHERELR
HIRY A R]) BT A H9115,2000% 8% 10 © R I
BHIED] - KL LR BER LERDHE

o

B
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(c) REAERAE

(¢) Tian Teck Investment Holding Co., Limited

ZBERHEE

Number of ordinary shares
HE BTN
BERERE
BxnER IR 4B
BAER KEER DR By WEDL
Total % of total
Personal Family Corporate beneficial issued voting
a4 Name interests interests interests interests shares
fEEIE Cheong Hooi Hong 25 — — 25 25%
SEIRMN Cheong Kheng Lim 25 — — 25 25%
SEAMEE Cheong Keng Hooi 25 — — 25 25%
fodea] Cheong Sim Lam 25 — — 25 25%

Br LAt PRt BE B S - B R RR IR R 5 & Bl
EIE2GRERTFNERMETR - JIRBITLEST
AIAEAL T X AAR R REZPAEHRE - 1
“E-NF=A=tT—H  ARFEF  HSTH
ABREBBA(ZENRAUZER)DREHER
ARABHEAREEE (AR B B GDIEXVELFTE
HER ) Bl - AR SERERE 2R TOK A ©

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2019, none of the directors and
chief executives of the Company or their associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules) had interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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As at 31 March 2019, other than the interests of the directors and chief
executives of the Company as disclosed above, the Company has been

notified of the following interests in the shares of the Company as recorded

F==A=1+—HBEEARTRNDZEZEWNT : in the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the
SFO:

HERITH

BREERSG

ZEREA BENEDL

Number of Percentage of total

ordinary shares issued voting shares

REARAT Tian Teck Investment Holding Co., Limited 180,030,681 50.01%
(3£1)(Note 1)

RiEtEBR AT Tian Teck Land Limited 180,030,681 50.01%
(3£1)(Note 1)

$BIEAR Cheong Kheng Lim 25,589,715 7.11%
(72)(Note 2)

ME i Lim Yoke Soon 25,589,715 711%
(72)(Note 2)

3T Notes:

(1) BB B AR D B 336 IEME T IR RS AR B (1) The register of interests and short positions in shares kept under section 336 of
MEER - REERARFMEENEREREMEAR the SFO indicates that the interest disclosed by Tian Teck Investment Holding
A FIEFER180,030,681 A% AL D FER] ° Co., Limited is the same as the 180,030,681 shares disclosed by Tian Teck

Land Limited.

2 BEMEEMEENESEMNEBELTHED 2) The interest disclosed by Mr Cheong Kheng Lim is the same as the 25,589,715
25,589,715% % 17 48 (7] » #25,589,715 i 1p - shares disclosed by Ms Lim Yoke Soon. Out of the 25,589,715 shares,
24,555 71508 BiEIR M A 1EFH - 1,034,0000% 81 & 24,555,715 shares were held by Mr Cheong Kheng Lim, and 1,034,000 shares
HEEMEBELLEE - were held by his spouse, Ms Lim Yoke Soon.

MR EEN  NMZE—NF=A=+—H " Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2019, no other interests or short

RN T 4 Y 37 40 7 () L At R 3 R BB S5 (& 17 positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company required to be

#3365 M/A BTN E LM NERTRE i
BRA 2 MRS AR -

recorded in the register kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO

have been notified to the Company.
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No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance, to which the

Company, its parent company or controlling shareholders or any of their

respective subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company

or an entity connected with him (within the meaning of section 486 of the

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance) had a material interest (whether directly

or indirectly), was entered into in the year or subsisted at the end of the year

or at any time during the year.

Due to allowances for expenses actually incurred and salary
adjustment, the directors’ emoluments of the following directors for
the year ended 31 March 2019 have changed when compared with

those for the last financial year:

Mr Cheong Hooi Hong’s emoluments decreased by
HK$42,000 to HK$2,298,000, of which, HK$2,144,000 (2018:
HK$2,197,000) was covered by his service contract with the

Company as chief executive officer.

Mr Cheong Kheng Lim’s emoluments increased by HK$50,000
to HK$3,317,000"°", of which, HK$2,814,000 (2018:
HK$2,781,000) was covered by his service contract with the

Company as chief operation officer.

Mr Cheong Keng Hooi’s emoluments increased by
HK$11,000 to HK$1,924,000, of which, HK$1,743,000 (2018:
HK$1,745,000) was covered by his service contract with the

Company as chief project officer.

Mr Cheong Sim Lam’s emoluments increased by HK$73,000 to
HK$2,195,000, of which, HK$1,816,000 (2018: HK$1,815,000)
was covered by his service contract with the Company as chief

investment officer.

Annual Report 2018-2019 F

65



66

BEEHE Directors’ Report

()

o EIEES/MEZ IS REIE1,6400007T 7 -
HHNEEE151,0007T © AEEE1,640,0007T
i EEE1,001,00000( =2 —)\F B
#E541,0007T) ;2 1R 48/ ME B AR A B HEHE
HETTBUC IR ST RARIS & KM S A+

BEHR LSS ARFEEEME LM
BRI EE R -

BE-T-NFZA=+—HIFE I8
ok 2 BERBG ABE1700007T - MR E LA
REE-T—)\F=Z A=+ A ILFERTIRE
ZEEMeRELEAA =T —CF+A
—“HEEESEZAEER T B)EE - ER
ZEE 2 ESHE BEE84,0007T

HRARRCBUHAEBELENERTER
WHR=ZF—NFNAZHNBRER A
AR HRTBHERARIENTES - TR
ZESNHFMEEGNE - R RERK
FEEMBREL/ NMERHERARRRERRL
MEEEEA » RRRHRLLAISANEREZ
ExMe(EFRs MRBMOMEEAR
AEZZBREMFMEZBEEREBRITNAK
MR E—T-NFRAZTRE -

TEEAARBEEEREEOMRBEEEWER
FREER c RZT—NAF=ZA=+—8  #ZWE
2 2FEHREABE1,581,000(ZE— =4
=+—A : AARKRHEMAEEYE - E2F A
F{ES H£5%53,150,0007T)

TEEARRRBEERG A OMEBRETHEMR
BREOEN - R—F-NF=ZRA=1—H ZBXE
2 2FEFAERE1,569,000(ZE—-N\F=A
=t—8: TER(AARRLERFEEENE)) -

Notes:

)

@

Associated International Hotels Limited S\EEIFEEA R A T

(Continued)

o Miss Cheong Chong Ling’s emoluments increased by
HK$151,000 to HK$1,640,000"?, of which, HK$1,001,000
(2018: HK$541,000) was covered by her service contract with

the Company as chief administration officer.

Despite the above changes, the Company’s policy regarding directors’

emoluments has not changed.

The director’'s emoluments of Mr Wong Yiu Tak for the year ended
31 March 2019 were HK$170,000. His director’s emoluments for
the year ended 31 March 2018, which were paid proportionally to his
term of directorship starting from 3 October 2017, were HK$84,000.

Since the vacation of office of Mr Sin Cho Chiu, Charles as a director
of the Company took effect on 26 June 2019, he ceased to be a non-executive
director, a member of the audit committee and remuneration committee,
and an alternate to Mr Cheong Kheng Lim and Miss Cheong
Chong Ling in acting as the authorised representative of the
Company on the same day. Mr Sin’s emoluments as a director,
namely director’s fee and payment made pursuant to his contract for
serving on the audit committee and remuneration committee of the

Company, were paid on a pro rata basis up to 26 June 2019.

Excluding the benefit in respect of the residential property provided by the
Company pursuant to the director’s service contract. As at 31 March 2019, the
estimated annual rental value of the property was HK$1,581,000 (31 March
2018: HK$3,150,000 being the aggregate estimated annual rental value of two
residential properties provided by the Company).

Excluding the benefit in respect of the residential property provided by the
Company pursuant to the director’s service contract. As at 31 March 2019, the
estimated annual rental value of the property was HK$1,569,000 (31 March
2018: Not applicable as no quarters were provided).
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A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance) for the benefit of the directors of the Company is currently in

force and was in force throughout the financial year ended 31 March 2019.

(@) The Company has an administrative services agreement and also
a non-administrative services agreement, each for an indefinite
period, with its immediate holding company, Tian Teck Land Limited,
whereby the Company agrees to provide, respectively, company
secretarial services (under the administrative services agreement) and
office space and various staff (under the non-administrative services
agreement). The aggregate fees received by the Company for the
year ended 31 March 2019 amounted to HK$1,200,000 (2018:
HK$1,200,000).

(b) A management agreement exists between the Company and
Cushman & Wakefield Property Management Limited whereby
this management company is responsible for general building and
property management (except for the services relating to tenancy)
of iISQUARE. The management agreement was renewed for a term
of twelve months commencing on 6 August 2012 and shall be
automatically renewed on an annual basis thereafter, subject to the
right of termination by the Company. Manager’s remuneration of
HK$600,000 (2018: HK$600,000) was paid by the Company for the
year ended 31 March 2019.

Apart from the foregoing, no contract concerning the management and

administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the

Company was entered into or existed during the year.
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AREEBRREWENT : Particulars of the investment properties of the Group are set out as follows:
HERSEREEYE Properties held for leasing and capital appreciation
ith B REAZR HEFH
Location Existing use Term of lease
RES(PREMRNVENRHAE) BB R HR

BRI IE RPN =57
(JLBEIBER 742555 )
iISQUARE (excluding an office on 9th Floor) Shopping centre Medium
63 Nathan Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon

(Kowloon Inland Lot No. 7425)

BT ®KNE THRIFBM i
HNABRL - — ARG K

HRLT ~ L2~ L3N LAREfL

NEBETRE-AZAR

(BB AR 225%)
Good Luck Industrial Building Workshops and Medium
Unit A on the Ground and 1st Floor, car parking spaces

and Car Parking Spaces Nos.

L1, L2, L3 & L4 on the Ground Floor,

105 How Ming Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon
(Kwun Tong Inland Lot No. 22)

R E 50 F /eSS =
Gl

BETHBR =2 TR R

BEHEF_T—ZE_T=%

(55 1B 36655 )

Euro Trade Centre Offices Long
5th Floor,

Nos. 13-14 Connaught Road Central and

Nos. 21-23 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong

(Marine Lot No. 366)
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Major Customers and Suppliers
During the year, the five largest suppliers and five largest customers of the
Group accounted for less than 30% by value of the Group’s total purchases

and sales respectively.

Bank Loan and Other Borrowings
Particulars of bank loan and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 March

2019 are set out in notes 20 to 22 to the financial statements.

Retirement Schemes
Particulars of the retirement schemes are set out in note 25 to the financial

statements.

Charitable Donations
Charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
HK$523,000 (2018: HK$2,824,000).

Purchase, Sale or Redemption by the Company
and its Subsidiaries of its Listed Securities
There were no purchases, sales or redemptions of the Company’s listed

securities by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors of the Company as at the date of this annual
report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the

Listing Rules.
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A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the

last five financial years is set out on pages 151 to 152 of the annual report.

KPMG retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A
resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as auditor of the Company is to

be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By order of the Board
Cheong Hooi Hong

Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2019
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Mr Cheong Hooi Hong, aged 72, has been the Chairman and a director
of the Company and Tian Teck Land Limited since 1984 and 1983
respectively. He currently is the Chief Executive Officer and the chairman of
the nomination committee of the Company and Tian Teck Land Limited. He
is also a director of Tian Teck Investment Holding Co., Limited and various
subsidiaries in the Group. Mr Cheong is a member of both the CPA Australia
and the Institute of Certified Public Accountants of Singapore. He holds a
diploma from the Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology in Commerce. He
has extensive experience in property development and investment both in

Hong Kong and Singapore for over 50 years.

He is a brother of directors, Messrs Cheong Kheng Lim, Cheong Keng Hooi

and Cheong Sim Lam.

Mr Cheong Kheng Lim, aged 70, has been the Deputy Chairman and a
director of the Company since 1984. He has been the Deputy Chairman and
a director of Tian Teck Land Limited since 1983 and 1969 respectively.
He currently is the Chief Operation Officer of the Company and a member
of the nomination committee of the Company and Tian Teck Land Limited.
Mr Cheong is also a director of Tian Teck Investment Holding Co., Limited

and various subsidiaries in the Group.

He is a brother of directors, Messrs Cheong Hooi Hong, Cheong Keng Hooi
and Cheong Sim Lam and is also the father of Miss Cheong Chong Ling, a

director.

Mr Cheong Keng Hooi, aged 66, has been a director of the Company and
Tian Teck Land Limited since 1984 and 1983 respectively. He is the Chief
Project Officer of the Company. He is also a director of Tian Teck Investment
Holding Co., Limited and various subsidiaries in the Group. Mr Cheong
holds a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration from the University of

Hawaii.

He is a brother of directors, Messrs Cheong Hooi Hong, Cheong Kheng Lim

and Cheong Sim Lam.
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Mr Cheong Sim Lam, aged 60, has been a director of the Company and
Tian Teck Land Limited since 1984 and 1983 respectively. He is the Chief
Investment Officer of the Company. He is also a director of Tian Teck
Investment Holding Co., Limited and various subsidiaries in the Group. He
obtained a certificate in Accounting and General Business from Kapiolani

Community College, Hawaii and has over 39 years of working experience.

He is a brother of directors, Messrs Cheong Hooi Hong, Cheong Kheng Lim

and Cheong Keng Hooi.

Miss Cheong Chong Ling (also known as Cheong Chong Ling
Diamond), aged 48, joined the Company as an assistant to directors in
1997. She has been a director of the Company and Tian Teck Land Limited
since 2007. She is the Chief Administration Officer of the Company.
Miss Cheong holds a degree of Bachelor of Science from the School of

Hotel Administration at Cornell University.

She is the daughter of Mr Cheong Kheng Lim, a director.

Mr Chow Wan Hoi, Paul, aged 63, has been an independent non-executive
director of the Company and Tian Teck Land Limited since 2004. He
currently also serves on the audit committee (as chairman), remuneration
committee (as chairman) and nomination committee (as member) of the
Company and Tian Teck Land Limited. Mr Chow has significant experience
in accounting and finance and has been an Associate of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales since 1983 and an Associate
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia since 1988 and is a

member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr Wong Yiu Tak, aged 72, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company and Tian Teck Land Limited in 2017.
He currently also serves on the audit committee, remuneration committee
and nomination committee of the Company and Tian Teck Land Limited.
Mr Wong holds a degree of Bachelor of Science (Honours) from The University
of Hong Kong and a Master of Law from Peking University. He is now a
serving solicitor in Hong Kong and a consultant to Messrs. S.K. Wong & Co.,

Solicitors & Notaries.
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Mr Lee Chung, aged 45, has been an independent non-executive director of
the Company since 2004. He currently also serves on the audit committee,
remuneration committee and nomination committee of the Company.
Mr Lee holds a degree of Bachelor of Science in Engineering from Colorado
School of Mines in the United States and a MBA degree from the University
of Warwick in the United Kingdom. He has extensive experience in venture

capital and property investment in the United States, Israel and PRC.

Miss Chan Mei Yee, CPA, aged 42, is the accounting manager of
the Company. She holds an honours degree of Bachelor of Business
Administration and a degree of Master of Arts from City University of Hong
Kong. She has nearly 19 years of experience in accounting and auditing.
Prior to joining the Company in 2004, she worked for one of the big four

accounting firms.

Miss Susan Chan So Some, aged 68, joined the Company in 1987 and
has been the financial controller since 1990. Prior to joining the Company,
Miss Chan was a chief accountant of the Company’s ultimate holding
company. She has over 39 years of experience in accounting and financial

management.

Mr Choi Ming Kwan, aged 62, joined the Group in 1981 and has been the

Company’s project manager since 1990.

Ms Ng Sau Fong, ACIS, ACS, aged 49, holds a degree of Bachelor of Arts
from The University of Hong Kong. Ms Ng joined the Company in 1992 as
assistant to directors and has been the company secretary of the Company
and Tian Teck Land Limited since 2004.
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(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Associated
International Hotels Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”)
set out on pages 81 to 150, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2019, the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a

summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2019 and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance

with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a

basis for our opinion.
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Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

REYENGE

Valuation of investment properties

R A IS IRA N i 12 R @51 BRI 1(0) °

Refer to note 12 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policy in note 1(d).

BRERSEE
The key audit matter

BRENERNTEEZSBE

How the matter was addressed in our audit
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The Group holds a portfolio of investment properties
located in Hong Kong. The principal component of the
Group’s investment properties is ISQUARE, a shopping and

entertainment complex located in Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong.
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Management’s assessment of the fair value of investment
properties is based on valuations performed by an external
property valuer in accordance with recognised industry

standards.

REMEHENEP —HRREEDAZRFENPNES K
A FRIRERE R EETEENEMRR -

One of the key drivers of the valuation of investment
properties is rental income which can be volatile, particularly
in light of the current economic status of the retail industry in

Hong Kong.

BPBT R EYEAENEZEFBREN TR
Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of investment

properties included the following:

. FHEIMNEYERERE RS  ERYEGENERLE
FHE - FEMEAELME
assessing the external property valuer’s qualifications,
experience and expertise in the properties being valued,

objectivity and independence;

. RS HRE R EEEEENIIMNEHERMSERETER
EMENRA R EEMGEEOHERS
obtaining and inspecting the valuation reports prepared
by the external property valuer engaged by the Group on
which the management’s assessment of the fair value of

investment properties was based;

. BONEEMFmEGER A RGETARANEZEM
st R
discussing with the external property valuer the valuation
methodology and key estimates and assumptions

adopted in the valuations;
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REMENGE

Valuation of investment properties
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Refer to note 12 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policy in note 1(d).

BRERSEE
The key audit matter

BRENERNTEEZSBE

How the matter was addressed in our audit
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We identified valuation of the Group’s investment properties
as a key audit matter because the valuation of investment
properties is inherently subjective and requires significant

judgement and estimation which increases the risk of error or

potential management bias.
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with the assistance of our internal property valuation
specialists, evaluating the valuation methodology applied
by the external property valuer and challenging the key
estimates and assumptions adopted in the valuations,
including capitalisation rates, prevailing market rents and
comparable market transactions, by comparing the key
estimates and assumptions used by the external property
valuer in the valuation of each investment property with
market available data and/or government produced

market statistics; and

ERANER - HBHEERES - BERESEmINE
PEEEMRHAFAFE S RHBEX - ARMEBEEL R
X MHRRE o

comparing, on a sample basis, the tenancy information,
including committed rents and occupancy rates,
provided by the Group to the external property valuer

with underlying contracts and documentation.
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The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information included in the annual report, other than the

consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion

thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise

appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report

that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative

but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the audit committee in discharging their

responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Annual Report 2018-2019 F

77



78

BIYZEBEHE Independent Auditor's Report

BANER  REGEMBREAEBES IR
REFF R ME R BBAHRRA MG A IER
& WHABRREMELNZEE RS - B
RIREBCRAVEBI)EA05IRERTE - (ZRIEEEK
SIS o BRULLASN - RAIBE TR AERMA
& BPEMARARENAET - HERMEMAL
BEIFEEREE -

Bl

ARREIHRFHRE - BTRERBRR(EE
FRPEADETNRE - EX - BAHERBLTHE
FrARRE 3R o SHARBRM P A R EREF S SE R 52
MREEAHEMENERREKRAIEZERS
§ 75 R 5% {0 PR KRR B 75 SRR PR L O AR BOR
E o RIBERERBR TR RERX -

ERBCBEBEAERDETEZERES - T
ERFERNHBARFSBERNIRRERE - BAPITF

o RAIAFHMEEMFFRERME BT S MR
RIFEERERPANER - ReT RATHE
P2 AR B LA - A MIEER T R A3

ENERERE  FREMERNER - AR
MEFRIRE S M BiR - i - ER0ER - ER
Bt - SORBRABIEEEZ b - B RAEHE
A MG B A EAE R R S5

AREEE I R R M B E A B A R E’JJ—L

B o

o THREEVHENAEEE  ARESRE
BATEENEZESF - 2R E’JI%‘E%TEJK
B AR BE KRB R -

o  TEEFEMRAEIBERNBE L RAAEL
GEHEET AR REN AR -

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept

liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users

taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We

also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on

the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made

by the directors.
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the

Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the

Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during

our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought

to bear on our independence and, where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so0 would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of

such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s

report is Yau Ngai Lun, Alan.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

27 June 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
BE-Z-NAF=A=1+—-—BLFE(UBYIR) For the year ended 31 March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2019 2018
BosE Fr Tt
Note $°000 $'000
ON Revenue 3 610,587 632,541
AR 7 Ak A Cost of services (86,020) (84,268)
ER Gross profit 524,567 548,273
HAWA Other revenue 5 11,234 5,767
HtnEEF5E Other net loss 5 @ @)
THER Administrative expenses (36,008) (37,586)
REVELESSH Profit from operations before valuation
B4R R A changes in investment properties 499,791 516,447
WAV GEREFR Net valuation losses on investment properties  12(a) (266,041) (269,836)
BREYELEEZSHE Profit from operations after valuation
FI & =R changes in investment properties 233,750 246,611
& AR Finance costs 6(a) (4,855) (3,140)
FRBE AR R Profit before taxation 6 228,895 243,471
FriSit Income tax 9(a) (80,410) (84,153)
A EER R EREN Profit and total comprehensive
REERF R income for the year attributable to
2HEUWAEEE equity shareholders of the Company 148,485 159,318
BREF Earnings per share
— EBERR#E — basic and diluted 11 $0.41 $0.44

FEQTEEF150E MM B A BEHRERAN—3H The notes on pages 87 to 150 form part of these financial statements.
FERT A B RERR AR SR AR B s 155 FAKTEE10 © Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company are set

out in note 10.
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e BT R R
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
R-ZZB-—AF=A=+—H(UB%IIR) At 31 March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2019 2018
FosE Fr Tt
Note $°000 $'000
FEREBEE Non-current assets
BE&E Fixed assets 12(a)
— REM* — Investment properties 13,499,050 13,764,720
— HME - BE MK — Other properties, plant and equipment 64,960 67,837
13,564,010 13,832,557
REBEE Current assets
JEURBRTR « 5T& RIBAER Accounts receivable, deposits and
prepayments 14 26,512 18,027
RNEAFE U PSR Current tax recoverable 9(c) 4 =
EEBIRITIER Pledged bank deposits 15 13,147 10,295
BeRBEEEY Cash and cash equivalents 16(a) 511,325 519,247
550,988 547,569
REBAE Current liabilities
HibEA RN EREH Other payables and accruals 17 22,080 21,125
EET & Deposits received 18 193,814 195,748
REARS & %45 Provision for long service payments 19 1,551 1,485
BhE S AR Obligations under finance leases 21 17 29
INERFEAT PSR Current tax payable 9(c) 14,749 14,541
232,211 232,928
REBEEZFE Net current assets 318,777 314,641
EEAERRBER Total assets less current liabilities 13,882,787 14,147,198
kRBEE Non-current liabilities
SRITER — Bk Bank loan — secured 20 200,000 200,000
N BT HE Government lease premiums payable 22 1,791 1,857
b TH & A Obligations under finance leases 21 — 17
RIEFIBEAE Deferred tax liabilities 9(d) 78,429 70,042
280,220 271,916
EEFE NET ASSETS 13,602,567 13,875,282

Associated International Hotels Limited S\ EEIFEEA R A T



HEBEMRRE Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
R-ZZB-—AF=A=+—H(UB%IIR) At 31 March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2019 2018
BtaE Fr T
Note $°000 $'000

BEXR#E CAPITAL AND RESERVES 23
&N Share capital 23(b) 360,000 360,000
Er Reserves 13,242,567 13,515,282
B TOTAL EQUITY 13,602,567 13,875,282

gEeN T hENA-HtRZ &L - Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 June 2019.

= EE Cheong Hooi Hong Cheong Kheng Lim
e IR Director Director

FR7TBEEF150B M iTB AN IFHmETH —E D The notes on pages 87 to 150 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

BE-Z-NAF=A=1+—BLFE (B R) Forthe year ended 31 March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

DRERRRERN
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
B EfhfRE REB R A
Share  Revaluation Retained Total
capital reserve earnings equity
FisE T T T T
Note $°000 $°000 $000 $°000
R2017F4 A1 B &S Balance at 1 April 2017 360,000 1,778,150 12,009,814 14,147,964
AEEEREE Changes in equity for the year:
REEHA R 2HEWALE  Profit and total comprehensive income
for the year = = 159,318 159,318
B BT EEE#ERIAR S Dividends approved in respect of
the previous financial year 10(b) — — (216,000) (216,000)
EBRATHEETIRMALE  Dividends declared in respect of
the current financial year 10(a) — — (216,000) (216,000)
R2018F3A31H R Balance at 31 March 2018 and
201854 81 BV &EER 1 April 2018 360,000 1,778,150 11,737,132 13,875,282
AEEEGZEE Changes in equity for the year:
REEHA R 2HEWALE  Profit and total comprehensive income
for the year - - 148,485 148,485
B BT EEE#ERIAR S Dividends approved in respect of
the previous financial year 10(b) - - (212,400) (212,400)
EBRATHEETIRMALE  Dividends declared in respect of
the current financial year 10(a) - - (208,800) (208,800)
20193 A31 B VA ER Balance at 31 March 2019 360,000 1,778,150 11,464,417 13,602,567

FETAEF150ENMEBAT EIHRRA—FF7 -

Associated International Hotels Limited S\ EEIFEEA R A T

The notes on pages 87 to 150 form part of these financial statements.



mEREMER
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
BE-Z-NAF=A=1+—BLFE (B R) Forthe year ended 31 March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2019 2018
Pt s Fr T
Note $°000 $'000
RETEE Operating activities
R A A Profit before taxation 228,895 243 471
FEIERE - Adjustments for:
— N EWA — Interest income (9,863) (4,039)
— BB — Finance costs 4,855 3,140
— e — Depreciation 4,488 4,637
— REMEHEERFRE — Net valuation losses on investment
properties 266,041 269,836
— RERBETEEEIEFRE — Net loss on disposals of fixed assets 2 6
EEESE AL EF Operating profit before changes in
working capital 494,418 517,051
JEARBRFR « 5] & MTENEK (Increase)/decrease in accounts receivable,

(3&hn), R deposits and prepayments (7,981) 3,557
HAbfEN R FESTEAIZAN  Increase in other payables and accruals 1,005 4,456
BUETE G D) /10 (Decrease)/increase in deposits received (1,934) 535
FEHIRE S EEE I, (4) Increase/(decrease) in provision for

long service payments 66 (28)
BEEBERBHERS Cash generated from operations 485,574 525,571
BTHIA Tax paid
— BN EENER — Hong Kong profits tax paid (71,819) (81,717)
RETHRMBNRSTFE Net cash generated from

operating activities 413,755 443,854
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#EBEFRE R Consolidated Staterment of Cash Flows
BE-_Z-NAF=A=1+—BLFE (B R) Forthe year ended 31 March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2019 2018
Pt s Fr T
Note $°000 $'000
RETEE Investing activities
EHFIE Interest received 9,359 3,987
BABTEEEMNK Payment for purchase of fixed assets
(TBREREME) other than investment properties (1,614) (516)
BEYHEST MR Payment for expenditure on
investment properties (371) (3,086)
BEETEEEMSHIEA Proceeds from disposals of fixed assets 1 2
PR ITERGEHN) WL (Increase)/decrease in pledged bank deposits (2,852) 124,686
RETEBREBHNRESFE Net cash generated from
investing activities 4,523 125,073
RS SEE Financing activities
ENBMEHEHESHERTH Capital element of finance lease rentals paid ~ 16(b) (29) 29
SN BUFHE Payment for government lease
premiums payable 16(b) (63) (60)
B BUTHEFLE Interest paid on government lease
premiums payable 16(b) (96) (99)
BERITERFLR Interest paid on bank loan 16(b) (4,563) (2,845)
BT EAth & A AR Other borrowing costs paid 16(b) (249) (249)
BEXARE Dividends paid (421,200) (432,000)
REEEHMANRSEE Net cash used in financing activities (426,200) (435,282)
Iﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁgﬂx L)} Net (decrease)/increase in cash
W) R and cash equivalents (7,922) 133,645
%201 8/2017F481HK Cash and cash equivalents at
RERREEEY 1 April 2018/2017 519,247 385,602
H3A3MEWERE Cash and cash equivalents
RREEEY at 31 March 16(a) 511,325 519,247
FE7TEEF 10BN EBAMIEHREN —35 The notes on pages 87 to 150 form part of these financial statements.
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B S SRR M EE
Notes to the Financial Statements
(%% %|R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BREH

KRB RERBIRRAABERANCEE
FBRELEAN(UAEBEREL SR
Bl A & MR fn B0 AT A B R R ERIKE
R EER) - (FRGFHERDM
2E) FEARGHRUMER(A
BB RERE - ABBEHRKRA
RN ERMNEEBRERZMAR
REEFEF ETRUDBEBEX - AT
EREERANEZETBR °

BEGER RSB T A TIEAHM
RIEFTECEBMBIMELER) - %%
ENEARKEMARRE RN
R ERERSH A HIBEERA - 2
TR A RE 056 8 R 45 L B R SR (B4 R
I E RPN AE R AR LRI Z (L
Al B E R M AE &5t BB & 5T
REBHER -

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. Significant accounting policies adopted by

the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group and the Company. Note 2
provides information on any changes in accounting policies
resulting from initial application of these developments to the
extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current and

prior accounting periods reflected in these financial statements.
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B R ERMEE Notes to the Financial Statements

(LA %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(b) HBB/EMFERLE

(EB-NF=R=1t—HILFE
WA M B mFOREAR R BN E
RE (e AEE])

B R 1 () P B 40 2 £ TR P B R
RENEREAAEENES - FY
RO REN U EL R A AT B
% -

e (EAMBHREERDOMBHRE
e BEEEARFEBRNER
REHREE - BE - WAMHOHK
BIEHHE - AEAARR - BLefbat
FHERRERBEAELERNEIRE
REERBEARSAIENZHEMEA
ZIEHW  RERBRTEEEHEE
AR BEM R SMEERAE
O RRED(E A TR L HIBT A 25 - B
RERATBEA BINEETEER -

B [ & T e B = IR 5T MAERA R
® o MRGFEANEBIRARTE
K-8 A ferxiEnmE
R INREETH B AT AR R A 19 B
F& - RIFEERERT e AR AR R P
IR °

Associated International Hotels Limited S\ EEIFEEA R A T

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2019 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries

(together referred to as the “Group”).

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except that the
investment properties are stated at their fair value as explained

in the accounting policies set out in note 1(d).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other

sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future

periods.



B HR KM Notes to the Financial Statements

(LB¥HIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

ERjz- NG
MBAREEIAEEEHNES -
BEAEER2EEREBTAETE
LB ERIALEEZATE
E1% - B AL SE BRI T B IEN
MEEZFLERE - ARESANEE
EHZER - A AEERETHS
LN REB(REEMHEA
TER AR BEER -

SENHE QR ENIGA BT

IS B EZIEHIRR LR AR
EMBHRRPEAFE - SREANE

REJEREE - Emﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁy =
REEAMABR SN EREGA
MR 2 - SERNBRS
ﬁfrF(Emik“fﬁéﬁﬁmﬁﬁéjﬁiﬂﬁiﬂi
CBEEERRNIEE
& ﬂ;ﬁaﬁk%ﬁ%ﬂﬁfﬁﬁﬁm%
33\ °
BRAQRRHBRABNIEER D EA
BERFEIN  RARBIHHRAERA
ZIRE RN AR E 18 (26
BEET (n)(i) B AR ©

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power, only substantive

rights (held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances, transactions and cash flows and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full
in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised
losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent that

there is no evidence of impairment.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment
in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see

note 1(h)(ii)), unless the investment is classified as held for sale.
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B R ERMEE Notes to the Financial Statements

(LA %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

d) REWE
BEMEREARDASWA R, K
BEMGEmMREUAERERE
(ZBIMTEE1 () B T3t s 5 )

H A BB ARFEE 1S R A A L it
M IE R s B R At B8 BEIRE
MENIE -

BREMER AR EBELAMBAREK

o BERSHEKERNDENEE

HBRMEE - BERARER SEHEE

HRAREBEZERRIN - REVELA

BENEE IBEIREREVE

ﬁﬁ?iﬁ’ﬂﬁ’rﬁﬁﬁﬂiﬁﬂéfﬂﬁﬁﬁqﬂ
R o REMENB WA RIZIRHT
1)) AT T AARR

IMRASE AR EHER B E R
ABREE S AR, AR EAIEE -
BERNRRSRERMENEEDR
RREWE - DERIEWMENEMA
MERSWARD AN EBURERER
B (2RME() s — 1 - MEE
AB ST BERORAREREHEN
HipiRBEMEMRR - BENTOARK
77 BB HTRE ()

) HAfu¥E - MERZE
Ht¥E - BE REHEUKANRER
STITE (21 (g)) AR EEE (&
BEFHEE (h)(i)) 18 AR °

WEREEREMYE - BEM&REEA
BFEANBRAREISFIEFR
HIRAREEZMNERET - ¥R
WEESNEE S IR m TR o

Associated International Hotels Limited S\ EEIFEEA R A T

(d)

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are
owned or held under a leasehold interest (see note 1(f)) to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation. These include
land held for a currently undetermined future use and property
that is being constructed or developed for future use as

investment property.

Investment properties are stated in the statement of financial
position at fair value, unless they are still in the course of
construction or development at the end of the reporting period
and their fair value cannot be reliably measured at that time.
Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value or from the
retirement or disposal of an investment property is recognised
in profit or loss. Rental income from investment properties is

accounted for as described in note 1(p)(i).

When the Group holds a property interest under an operating
lease to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation,
the interest is classified and accounted for as an investment
property on a property-by-property basis. Any such property
interest which has been classified as an investment property
is accounted for as if it were held under a finance lease (see
note 1(f)), and the same accounting policies are applied to that
interest as are applied to other investment properties leased
under finance leases. Lease payments are accounted for as

described in note 1(f).

Other properties, plant and equipment
Other properties, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation (see note 1(g)) and impairment

losses (see note 1(h)(ii)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of other properties, plant and equipment are determined
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit or loss

on the date of retirement or disposal.



B HR KM Notes to the Financial Statements

(LB¥HIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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—  AEERERAREHMD
FEEFERENETER
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IR EREAREE RG]
Y HHER - SERIABEA

BEUGREEY -

Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of
transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines
that the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset
or assets for an agreed period of time in return for a payment
or a series of payments. Such a determination is made based
on an evaluation of the substance of the arrangement and is
regardless of whether the arrangement takes the legal form of a

lease.

(i) Classification of assets leased to the Group
Assets that are held by Group under leases which
transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as being held under
finance leases. Leases which do not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership to the Group
are classified as operating leases, with the following

exceptions:

— property held under operating leases that would
otherwise meet the definition of an investment
property is classified as an investment property
on a property-by-property basis and, if classified
as investment property, is accounted for as if held

under a finance lease (see note 1(d)); and

— land held for own use under an operating lease,
the fair value of which cannot be measured
separately from the fair value of a building situated
thereon at the inception of the lease, is accounted
for as being held under a finance lease, unless
the building is also clearly held under an operating
lease. For these purposes, the inception of the
lease is the time that the lease was first entered
into by the Group, or taken over from the previous

lessee.
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B#BEME Notes to the Financial Statements
(LA %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(f)

HEEE®@)

(i)

(i)

UREHEEBANEE
MRTEERAREEERES
BENERE B8 EER
HEEEAABEIAKEHEE
NRENRE(NASBRENE
R RBEEEE - MINERER
BERKNMEEAERS SR
BHEAE - TESERBN
HEHNEENTBHR (0
AREBRAIEMBEENNA
M - LARSEE P B EE R 5T
e BREREER BRI
RPIEE(g) ° BB IRIRIRMT
1(h)(INFTER S FTBER AR <
ENFASHREZAETA
HEHAWBERS  E5Ee
TR R E B RIA R ESRE
ML R RHAER - BT HE
HEAMEHHIRARES
e

RETHEER

MRAEE AL EHERES
BEMNERE  AIRBEHEE
HENREEHEERPMREN
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Associated International Hotels Limited S\ EEIFEEA R A T

(f) Leased assets (Continued)

(i

(i

Assets acquired under finance leases

Where the Group acquires the use of assets under
finance leases, the amounts representing the fair value
of the leased asset, or, if lower, the present value of the
minimum lease payments, of such assets are recognised
as fixed assets and the corresponding liabilities, net
of finance charges, are recorded as obligations under
finance leases. Depreciation is provided at rates which
write off the cost of the assets over the term of the
relevant lease or, where it is likely that the Group will
obtain ownership of the asset, the life of the asset, as set
out in note 1(g). Impairment losses are accounted for in
accordance with the accounting policy as set out in note
1(h)(ii). Finance charges implicit in the lease payments are
charged to profit or loss over the period of the leases so
as to produce an approximately constant periodic rate
of charge on the remaining balance of the obligations for
each accounting period. Contingent rentals are charged
to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they

are incurred.

Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under
operating leases, payments made under the leases are
charged to profit or loss in equal instalments over the
accounting periods covered by the lease term, except
where an alternative basis is more representative of the
pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased asset.
Lease incentives received are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
made. Contingent rentals are charged to profit or loss in

the accounting period in which they are incurred.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating lease is
amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of the
lease term except where the property is classified as an

investment property (see note 1(d)).



B#BERME Notes to the Financial Statements
(LL8 %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of other

properties, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual

value, if any, using the straight-line method over their estimated

useful lives as follows:

— Land and buildings Over the shorter of the unexpired
term of lease and their estimated
useful lives, being no more than 40

years after the date of completion

— Furniture, fixtures 5 years
and equipment
— Motor vehicles 5 years

Where parts of an item of other properties, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its

residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and
accounts receivable
A) Policy applicable from 1 April 2018

The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses (“ECLs”) on the financial
assets measured at amortised cost (including
pledged bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents

and other receivables) and accounts receivable.
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B#BEME Notes to the Financial Statements
(LA %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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Associated International Hotels Limited S\ EEIFEEA R A T

(h)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

)

Credit losses from financial instruments and

accounts receivable (Continued)

A

Policy applicable from 1 April 2018 (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the
present value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e.
the difference between the cash flows due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and the

cash flows that the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using
the following discount rates where the effect of

discounting is material:

— fixed-rate financial assets and other
receivables: effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition or an

approximation thereof;

— variable-rate financial assets: current

effective interest rate; and

— accounts receivable: discount rate used
in the measurement of the accounts

receivable.

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over

which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that
is available without undue cost or effort. This
includes information about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic

conditions.



B#BERME Notes to the Financial Statements
(LL8 %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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(h)

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)

)

Credit losses from financial instruments and

accounts receivable (Continued)

A

Policy applicable from 1 April 2018 (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)
ECLs are measured on either of the following

bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the

reporting date; and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible default
events over the expected lives of the items

to which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for accounts receivable are
always measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs. ECLs on these financial assets are estimated
using a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors and an
assessment of both the current and forecast

general economic conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECLs unless there has been a significant increase
in credit risk of the financial instrument since initial
recognition, in which case the loss allowance is

measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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(LA %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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(h)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

@

Credit losses from financial instruments and

accounts receivable (Continued)

A

Policy applicable from 1 April 2018 (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk
of default occurring on the financial instrument
assessed at the reporting date with that assessed
at the date of initial recognition. In making this
reassessment, the Group considers that a default
event occurs when (i) the debtor is unlikely to pay
its credit obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such as realising
security (if any is held); or (i) the financial asset
is 90 days past due. The Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is

available without undue cost or effort.



B#BERME Notes to the Financial Statements
(LL8 %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(h) EEBEREERE®E (h) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)
() *RE€mMIANEKEREZN () Credit losses from financial instruments and
EEBEE) accounts receivable (Continued)
A BZETE-N\FEA—HE (A)  Policy applicable from 1 April 2018 (Continued)
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Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)
In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has

increased significantly since initial recognition:

— failure to make payments of principal or

interest on their contractually due dates;

— an actual or expected significant
deterioration in a financial instrument’s

external or internal credit rating (if available);

— an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor; and

— existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic or legal
environment that have a significant adverse
effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its

obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either an
individual basis or a collective basis. When the
assessment is performed on a collective basis,
the financial instruments are grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics, such as past

due status and credit risk ratings.
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(h)

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)

@

Credit losses from financial instruments and

accounts receivable (Continued)

A

Policy applicable from 1 April 2018 (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit
risk since initial recognition. Any change in the
ECL amount is recognised as an impairment gain
or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments
with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying

amount through a loss allowance account.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or
accounts receivable is written off (either partially
or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the case
when the Group determines that the debtor
does not have assets or sources of income that
could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the

amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a reversal
of impairment in profit or loss in the period in

which the recovery occurs.



B#BERME Notes to the Financial Statements
(LL8 %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(h) EEBEREERE®E (h) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)
) HRESHIAREKRERN () Credit losses from financial instruments and
=EEIE(E) accounts receivable (Continued)
B WH-ZE—NFEWNA—HAH (B)  Policy applicable prior to 1 April 2018

58 F Y BRR

R-_ZF—N\FE@MA—H Prior to 1 April 2018, an “incurred loss” model

BT [BEAEE BB was used to measure impairment losses on

REERDEARAAE financial assets not classified as at fair value

BERBREPEZNSRE through profit or loss (e.g. accounts and other

= (hn e U BE =k % o 4th e receivables). Under the “incurred loss” model, an

WEHREEE - B impairment loss was recognised only where there

[BE4AEE|EBR  BE was objective evidence of impairment. Objective

BiRERNREN REDE evidence of impairment included:

AR - BEORE

BRI

— BEBRABAEZEAH —  significant financial difficulty of the debtor;
B RE

— ERAY - ¥ERx —  a breach of contract, such as a default
o S B FI) B 5, or delinquency in interest or principal
i N payments;

— (BB ARREEEERE — it becoming probable that the debtor
EdE MK E will enter bankruptcy or other financial
4B K reorganisation; and

— BT T K —  significant changes in the technological,
o R RIEIE IR % market, economic or legal environment that
BERABKAEY have an adverse effect on the debtor.
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B#BEME Notes to the Financial Statements
(LA %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(h)

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and

accounts receivable (Continued)

®

Policy applicable prior to 1 April 2018 (Continued)

If any such evidence existed, an impairment loss

was determined and recognised as follows:

For accounts and other receivables and
other financial assets carried at amortised
cost, the impairment losses were measured
as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows, discounted
at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate, where the effect of discounting
was material. This assessment was made
collectively where these financial assets
shared similar risk characteristics, such as
similar past due status, and had not been
individually assessed as impaired. Future
cash flows for financial assets which were
assessed for impairment collectively were
based on historical loss experience for
assets with credit risk characteristics similar

to the collective group.
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B#BERME Notes to the Financial Statements
(LL8 %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(h)

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)

)

Credit losses from financial instruments and

accounts receivable (Continued)

B

Policy applicable prior to 1 April 2018 (Continued)

(Continued)

If in a subsequent period the amount of
an impairment loss decreased and the
decrease could be linked objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment loss
was recognised, the impairment loss was
reversed through profit or loss. A reversal
of an impairment loss was only recognised
to the extent that it did not result in the
asset’s carrying amount exceeding that
which would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior

years.

Impairment losses were written off against
the corresponding assets directly, except
for impairment losses recognised in
respect of accounts receivable, whose
recovery was considered doubtful but
not remote. In this case, the impairment
losses were recorded using an allowance
account. When the Group was satisfied
that recovery was remote, the amount
considered irrecoverable was written
off against accounts receivable directly
and any amounts held in the allowance
account relating to that debt were
reversed. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously charged to the
allowance account were reversed against
the allowance account. Other changes in
the allowance account and subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off

directly were recognised in profit or loss.
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(LA %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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(h)

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)

(i) Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed

at the end of each reporting period to identify indications

that other properties, plant and equipment and

investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s statement

of financial position may be impaired or an impairment

loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have

decreased.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable

amount is estimated.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its fair value less costs of disposal and value
in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. Where
an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows

independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).
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(h)

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)

(i)

)

Impairment of other non-current assets (Continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
if the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-
generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds
its recoverable amount. Impairment losses
recognised in respect of cash-generating units
are allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the
assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro rata
basis, except that the carrying value of an asset
will not be reduced below its individual fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in use

(if determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. A reversal
of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised in prior
years. Reversals of impairment losses are credited
to profit or loss in the year in which the reversals

are recognised.

Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the Group

is required to prepare an interim financial report in

compliance with HKAS 34, Interim financial reporting, in

respect of the first six months of the financial year. At the

end of the interim period, the Group applies the same

impairment testing, recognition, and reversal criteria as

it would at the end of the financial year (see notes 1(h)(i)

and (ii)).
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Accounts and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to receive
consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time is

required before payment of that consideration is due.

Accounts and other receivables are initially recognised at fair
value and thereafter stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less allowance for credit losses (see note 1(h)(i)),
except where the receivables are interest-free loans made
to related parties without any fixed repayment terms or the
effect of discounting would be immaterial. In such cases, the

receivables are stated at cost less allowance for credit losses.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair value
less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. Interest expense is recognised in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for borrowing

costs (see note 1(1)).

Accounts and other payables

Accounts and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value and subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they

are stated at cost.
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Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
statement of cash flows. Cash and cash equivalents are
assessed for ECL in accordance with the policy set out in note

10)(D)-

Employee benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans
Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in
the year in which the associated services are rendered
by employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred
and the effect would be material, these amounts are

stated at their present values.

(i) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when it recognises restructuring costs

involving the payment of termination benefits.
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(n)

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or
loss except to the extent that they relate to items recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax

payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and

unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that will arise
from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences,
provided those differences relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either
in the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising
from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The
same criteria are adopted when determining whether existing
taxable temporary differences support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and credits,
that is, those differences are taken into account if they relate to
the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and
are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax

loss or credit can be utilised.
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Income tax (Continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets
and liabilities are the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that
affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are
not part of a business combination), and temporary differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the
case of taxable differences, the Group controls the timing of the
reversal and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible differences,

unless it is probable that they will reverse in the future.

Where investment properties are carried at their fair value in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(d), the
amount of deferred tax recognised is measured using the tax
rates that would apply on sale of those assets at their carrying
value at the reporting date unless the property is depreciable
and is held within a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied
in the property over time, rather than through sale. In all other
cases, the amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of
the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting

period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such
reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable

that sufficient taxable profits will be available.
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Income tax (Continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset against
current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against deferred
tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group has the legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current

tax liabilities and the following additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability

simultaneously; or

— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation

authority on either:

— the same taxable entity; or

= different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realise the current tax assets
and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis

or realise and settle simultaneously.
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(LB¥HIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are stated
at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle the

obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of

outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Revenue

Revenue is recognised when the lessee has the right to use
the asset, at the amount of promised consideration to which
the Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Further details of the

Group’s revenue recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Rental income from operating leases
Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over the
periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable. Contingent rentals are recognised as income

in the accounting period in which they are earned.
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B R ERMEE Notes to the Financial Statements

(LA %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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Revenue (Continued)
(i) Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the

effective interest method.

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are

recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. The transaction date is the date on which the Group
initially recognises such non-monetary assets or liabilities.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are stated at fair value are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was

measured.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes
a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use
or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are

incurred.
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(s)

Related parties

(@)

A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is

related to the Group if that person:

(i)

(i

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of

the Group or the Group’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies:

(i

(iv)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the

others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a

member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third

party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and

the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an

entity related to the Group.
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B#BEME Notes to the Financial Statements
(LA %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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(s)

Related parties (Continued)
(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies: (Continued)

(vii  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a

person identified in (a).

(vl A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a

parent of the entity).

(vii) ~ The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel

services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced

by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s

various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority

of these criteria.
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B#BERME Notes to the Financial Statements
(LL8 %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

The HKICPA has issued a number of new HKFRSs and amendments
to HKFRSs that are first effective for the current accounting period of
the Group. Of these, the following developments are relevant to the

Group:

— HKFRS 9 (2014), Financial instruments

— HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers

— Amendments to HKAS 40, Investment property: Transfers of

investment property

— HK(IFRIC) Interpretation 22, Foreign currency transactions and

advance consideration
None of these developments have had a material effect on how the
Group’s results and financial position for the current or prior periods

have been prepared or presented.

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is

not yet effective for the current accounting period.

The principal activity of the Group is property investment.

Revenue represents gross rental income received and receivable from

investment properties.
The Group’s customer base is diversified and does not include

any customers with whom transactions have exceeded 10% of the

Group’s revenue for the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2019.
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B#BEME Notes to the Financial Statements
(LA %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

AEERBE—EHREHE - NI MEM The Group has a single reportable segment which is “Property
Elo At EM—ERESLNEBSE leasing”. Accordingly, the business segment information for this sole
AR B E HTAER o reportable segment is equivalent to the consolidated figures.
ERAEEYEHRENKANMEEDRES No separate geographical information is presented as the Group’s
B HunEEERWERT 27 o revenue and results of property leasing were derived from Hong Kong.
2019 2018
Fx Fir
$°000 $'000
Hir A Other revenue
FESKA Interest income 9,863 4,039
TR A R W ERH S IR & Management fee received from holding company 1,200 1,200
IRATAR IFTR S FTESREE Compensation from early termination of lease - 273
HAb Others 171 255
11,234 5,767
HitE5i8 358 Other net loss
GNESSTE [T 18R B Net foreign exchange loss - )
BREETEEBEFE Net loss on disposals of fixed assets @ ©®)
(2 (7)
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B#BERME Notes to the Financial Statements
(LL8 %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BRBADEFE M (GEA) -

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2019 2018
Fx FT
$’000 $'000
(@ ®WERK (@) Finance costs
RITERF B Interest on bank loan 4,511 2,793
E A fE TR Other borrowing costs 250 250
FET R T H1E K 2, Interest on government lease premiums
payable 94 97
4,855 3,140
(b) BIME (b)  Staff costs
e TEREMEF Salaries, wages and other benefits 43,365 42,127
RERFERIKRET SR Contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans 1,273 1,169
44,638 43,296
(c) EHtEB ()  Otheritems
REWMENHS KA Gross rental income from investment
FEEE properties (610,587) (632,541)
B BEEX Less: Direct outgoings 86,020 84,268
(524,567) (548,273)
%A & Auditor’s remuneration
— ZERT — audit services 798 798
— AR — tax services 61 61
— H AR — other services 196 196
e Depreciation 4,488 4,637
WSRO E BB Impairment losses on accounts receivable 304 —
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B#BEME Notes to the Financial Statements
(LA %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

RIEEBCR BMEDI Y 383(1) i M A &) (# Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the
Twm BN ERIRBYE 22T a) E B Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
ST (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as
follows:
e 2R BIRGHE 2019
-tk REWFIE B H®X ko]
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’  and benefits  Discretionary scheme
fees in kind bonuses contributions Total
Fr T Fr Fr T
$°000 $000 $°000 $000 $000
HITESE Executive Directors
EEE Cheong Hooi Hong 50 1,548 700 - 2,298
SEIRM Cheong Kheng Lim 50 2,567+ 700 - 3,317
EmE Cheong Keng Hooi 50 1,574 300 - 1,924
B4 Cheong Sim Lam 50 1,845 300 - 2,195
B Cheong Chong Ling 50 1,449¢ 120 21 1,640
FHTES Non-executive Director
HAam Sin Cho Chiu, Charles" 50 380 - - 430
BAFHIT Independent Non-executive
B= Directors
BEE Chow Wan Hoi, Paul 170 - - - 170
wHIRE Wong Yiu Tak 170 - - - 170
A Lee Chung 170 - - - 170
810 9,363 2,120 21 12,314
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(LL8 %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

He o 28 RIRETE 2018
BExHe REWAE BEFEAL it k]
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits Discretionary scheme
fees in kind bonuses contributions Total
T Fr T T Fr
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
HTES Executive Directors
EEE Cheong Hooi Hong 50 1,590 700 = 2,340
§E 3500 Cheong Kheng Lim 50 2,517 700 = 3,267
&z Cheong Keng Hooi 50 1,563 300 - 1,913
fEpotey Cheong Sim Lam 50 1,772 300 = 2,122
BR Cheong Chong Ling 50 1,298 120 21 1,489
FHTES Non-executive Director
izl Sin Cho Chiu, Charles” 50 380 - - 430
BT Independent Non-executive
E= Directors
RAEE Chow Wan Hoi, Paul 170 = = = 170
w=ER Yau Allen Lee-nam
(R=T—F (passed away on
+AZTAARE)  25July2017) 54 = = = 54
ERE Wong Yiu Tak
(R=Z—+F (appointed with effect from
+A=RtMA) 3 October 2017) 84 = = = 84
EI/N Lee Chung 170 = = = 170
778 9,120 2,120 21 12,039

. EEETERERMCERBEEMEN
&F - HETHAELA1,581,000C(=ZF— N\
F : YEMEES £453,150,0007T) °

§ EHETAEMERL/MARMEEYED
BF - EETHEX 51,569,000 (=T — N
Fm)o

" KEBEENEERUERE XA -F
—NEFERAZHRERER -

The amount excludes the benefits for the provision of a residential
property to Mr Cheong Kheng Lim with an estimated rental value of
approximately $1,581,000 (2018: an aggregate estimated rental value of
the properties approximately $3,150,000).

The amount excludes the benefits for the provision of a residential
property to Miss Cheong Chong Ling with an estimated rental value of
approximately $1,569,000 (2018: Nil).

The vacation of office of Mr Sin Cho Chiu, Charles as a director took
effect on 26 June 2019.
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(LA %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

—E- \ER-E-NEEERUEESMNE
MATHEBRNRBNES  HMSEHIER
MI5ET7 ©

(@ HFeBRmkHEMEERAR
FRREIPRISBIIES

The five highest paid individuals for 2018 and 2019 are all directors of

the Company whose emoluments are disclosed in note 7.

(@) Taxation in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income represents:

2019 2018
T T
$°000 $'000
AHFIE — HEBFEHR Current tax — Hong Kong profits tax
NEE R TAZER Provision for the year 72,083 76,449
A EAEE AT Over-provision in respect of prior years (60) (40)
72,023 76,409
EEHIE Deferred tax
i = R E A MEE D) Origination and reversal of temporary
differences 8,387 7,744
80,410 84,153

BRNGSHEBRRAFEOMG
FERTBLE A A16.5% (=T — \F :
16.5%) B X5 E -

Associated International Hotels Limited S\ EEIFEEA R A T

The provision of Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5%

(2018:16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the year.



B#BERME Notes to the Financial Statements
(LL8 %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(b) PTEHX HMiziE ARG (b) Reconciliation between tax expense and
accounting profit at applicable tax rate:

HEhaMavHER

2019 2018

Fr Fx

$000 $000

BR A% A& A Profit before taxation 228,895 243 471
RIRE B R E R LA Notional tax on profit before taxation,

A E B IR calculated at applicable tax rates 37,603 40,173
TE R HEITIESZ  Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 47,654 48,657
BAERKERNTIESE  Tax effect of non-taxable income (4,787) (4,637)
AT 2B R Over-provision in prior years (60) (40)
ERBIES T Actual tax expense 80,410 84,153

(©) #HEMIBEARREKA R (c) Current taxation in the consolidated
Fri8HiA : statement of financial position represents:
2019 2018
T T
$000 $000
REEBENEH Provision for Hong Kong profits tax

AEfF for the year 72,083 76,449

B EHFIEH Provisional profits tax paid (57,338) (61,908)
14,745 14,541

K& : Representing:

ANERPE WIS HY Current tax recoverable @) _

NERFEAS RS Current tax payable 14,749 14,541
14,745 14,541
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B#BEME Notes to the Financial Statements
(LA %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

d) EERELHRIEAE : (d) Deferred tax liabilities recognised:
B LR A ISR R R AR R A The components of deferred tax liabilities recognised in the
BEMNHAEKIDMAEZEEHT ¢ consolidated statement of financial position and the movements

during the year are as follows:

HEHEETE
MIFERBE
Depreciation
allowances

in excess of
the related

depreciation

Fr
$°000

RETHIFENELESE : Deferred tax arising from:
2017F4 7318 At 1 April 2017 62,298
fEEz R 0Bk Charged to profit or loss 7,744
201843 A31H At 31 March 2018 70,042
R20185F481H At 1 April 2018 70,042
Rk Charged to profit or loss 8,387
R2019F3A31H At 31 March 2019 78,429
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B#BERME Notes to the Financial Statements
(LL8 %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(@) NEEEMAAERRKRER (@) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of
3=, the Company attributable to the year
2019 2018
Fr Fr
$°000 $'000
EER&EZAHERE Interim dividend declared and paid of
FM1%0.587T $0.58 per share
(20184 : §A%0.607T) (2018: $0.60 per share) 208,800 216,000

NS MR A BB ES Final dividend proposed after the end of
PIRAREIIR EFRR0.577T  the reporting period of $0.57 per share

(20184 : HR0.597T) (2018: $0.59 per share) 205,200 212,400
414,000 428,400
S B RS B R RR D RS RE The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting
REMAEREHAMKEAERRE period has not been recognised as a liability at the end of the
f& - reporting period.

b) BRE—UVHREEENRQ T (b) Dividends payable to equity shareholders
RERZRE  WRARFERE of the Company attributable to the previous
REFHRE financial year, approved and paid during the

year
2019 2018
Fr Tt
$°000 $000

B E—0EHEE - IR Final dividend in respect of the previous

REFHE R T AHE financial year, approved and paid during

RERAR B @AR0.597T the year, of $0.59 per share

(20184 : &H0.607T) (2018: $0.60 per share) 212,400 216,000
BREABIZERAFENRAER The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit
A% BRFE {5 355 1 148,485,000 T ( =& — N\ attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of $148,485,000
4 : 159,318,000 T ) M B B 1TH & @ (2018: $159,318,000) and 360,000,000 (2018: 360,000,000) ordinary
360,000,000/% (== — A4 : 360,000,000 shares in issue during the year. There were no potential dilutive
BOFTE - —F— )\E&_ = — NEWEE ordinary shares in existence in 2018 and 2019.
fErEEE LR
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B#BEME Notes to the Financial Statements
(LA %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(@) (@)
Investment
properties Other properties, plant and equipment
HER
FEXR
BEME Hiyz HitEE et e
Properties
held for
leasing
and capital Other Other
appreciation properties assets Sub-total Total
i T i T i
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
BARGE : Cost or valuation:
HR2018F481H At 1 April 2018 13,764,720 100,464 34,902 135,366 13,900,086
#®e Additions 37 - 1,614 1,614 1,985
BE Disposals - - (84) (84) (84)
AREERAE Fair value adjustments (266,041) - - - (266,041)
H2019F3A31H At 31 March 2019 13,499,050 100,464 36,432 136,896 13,635,946
e Representing:
B Cost - 100,464 36,432 136,896 136,896
& —2019%F  Valuation — 2019 13,499,050 - - — 13,499,050
13,499,050 100,464 36,432 136,896 13,635,946
EiHFE - Accumulated depreciation:
M2018F481H At 1 Apri 2018 - 34,416 33,113 67,529 67,529
AEENE Charge for the year - 3,444 1,044 4,488 4,488
B & R O] Written back on disposals - - (81) (81) (81)
M201993H31H At 31 March 2019 - 37,860 34,076 71,936 71,936
BRI FHE ¢ Net book value:
M201943H31H At 31 March 2019 13,499,050 62,604 2,356 64,960 13,564,010
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(LL8 %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(#&) (@) (continued)
REMZE B - BB KRt
Investment
properties Other properties, plant and equipment
HER
HEXR
REME Hib ¥z HinEE e 1%
Properties
held for
leasing
and capital Other Other
appreciation properties assets Sub-total Total
T T T T T
$'000 $'000 $'000 $000 $'000
BARSRGE ¢ Cost or valuation:
20174818 At1 April 2017 14,031,470 100,464 34,453 134,917 14,166,387
e Additions 3,086 — 516 516 3,602
RE Disposals = = 67) 67) 67)
DA EEFHE Fair value adjustments (269,836) = = = (269,836)
M2018%F3A31H At 31 March 2018 13,764,720 100,464 34,902 135,366 13,900,086
& Representing:
AR Cost — 100,464 34,902 135,366 135,366
i —2018%F  Valuation — 2018 13,764,720 - - — 13,764,720
13,764,720 100,464 34,902 135,366 13,900,086
BiHFE - Accumulated depreciation:
MW2017F4B1H At 1 April 2017 - 30,972 31,979 62,951 62,951
AEEHE Charge for the year = 3,444 1,193 4,637 4,637
BRERED Written back on disposals - = (69) (59) (%9)
M201843H31H At 31 March 2018 - 34,416 33,113 67,529 67,529
HREFE Net book value:
7201843 H31H At 31 March 2018 13,764,720 66,048 1,789 67,837 13,832,557
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B#BEME Notes to the Financial Statements
(LA %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(b) BREMENAAEBEZ (b) Fair value measurement of investment
properties
RZEBE-NE=A=1+—8 ' &E&Y At 31 March 2019, investment properties comprise ISQUARE
¥BREEBRES (TREMLRNER (excluding an office on 9th Floor), certain units of Good Luck
PNE) ~ 1 ﬁI%KTEE’\]E?%E Industrial Building and a floor of Euro Trade Centre. Other
REEESHRLH—E - HthER properties comprise an office on 9th Floor of ISQUARE, certain
LR BB 8 BB J%%ﬁﬁ% EOF /N units of an industrial property and two residential properties in
= —EIERENETELLRWE Hong Kong.
TEME -
() 2“REEER ()  Fair value hierarchy
%% AR & B R R & B &R The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s
EHRKEEREEMGTENER investment properties measured at the end of the
ﬁ%% REE - ZEMED reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised into the
FARCE BB REELD three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13,
BRI AR BEZE AT Fair value measurement. The level into which a fair value
“RARBEER AKEZ measurement is classified is determined with reference
FRUA T EETEMEA B &E A to the observability and significance of the inputs used in
BEMABREEMEEZNE - the valuation technique as follows:
MET AR EBEFTEHEME
WARERER
— FEfMNE: RERE —  Level 1 valuations: fair value measured using only
—EHRE AERETE Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in
BRERTSNEREE active markets for identical assets or liabilities at
HEBHREHERE) the measurement date
Rer2ANEE
— FZEAME:FRFZ —  Level 2 valuations: fair value measured using Level
ERm AEBRES— 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet
EESEIER = UNEDE Level 1, and not using significant unobservable
W ARBERR B KA A B inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which
R ABRFELAE market data are not available
B - TRIBRE AEEHE
RpTISEENEAE
— FZELMHE: FREKX —  Level 3 valuations: fair value measured using
KA B AERGTE significant unobservable inputs
ArfEE
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(LL8 %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

) 2REEBRE
AEBEAEEARARBEFE
MEEMEREEE—ERK
F_EBREE WRERE=
EBRGEENZRENEITWT

(b) Fair value measurement of investment
properties (Continued)

)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

None of the Group’s investment properties measured
at fair value are categorised into Level 1 and Level 2
valuations. The investment properties which are
categorised into Level 3 valuations are analysed as

below:

2019 2018
Fr Tt
$000 $000
BREEEEMITEN Recurring fair value measurement
AREHE
WEREEEE =EAMLER  Investment properties categorised into
B Level 3 valuations:
— R BEBREEYE — Commercial properties in Hong Kong 13,439,490 13,710,700
— LR EBN T XY — Industrial properties in Hong Kong 59,560 54,020
13,499,050 13,764,720

REBEEZE_Z-NFR_Z—N
FZA=FT—HILFE EF
—[EREE Z[E R 2 HE
RER  MRE—ERTES
AE L - REBOBEE

ARBEERZELRELHN
R AR 4 B R A RS -

During the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018,
there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or
transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to
recognise transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy

at the end of the reporting period in which they occur.
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B#BEME Notes to the Financial Statements
(LA %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(b) REVENRAABETZ @

(i)

(i)

HERR

RZFE—NE=A=+—8"
MR EERNZENMERH
B HEMERM — BISHTEE
FEEMBRAR(HEEIHRA
HEEBAEMBSEREEY
Bi% - BEWEBZMERE
B RATEE R AT AR
KB EITEL - EHTILAER)
WMEZTERER - EEERD
B ERD S RS A A4
EiRE A BT ER RN

+
I\Z\l:l °

FZERAAEBEFENE

AEBRBUREERALEE - B
MENFHEHSWABERNE - I
ZRIMELAXRNEREM
HEmERELORESBANE
FEREN  NBEREMENLR
REE - EANTHERGHA

(b)

Fair value measurement of investment
properties (Continued)

(i)

(i

Valuation process

The investment properties in Hong Kong were revalued
at 31 March 2019 by Vigers Appraisal and Consulting
Limited, an independent firm of professional valuers
who have among their staff Fellows of The Hong Kong
Institute of Surveyors with recent experience in the
location and category of properties being valued, on a
market value basis. Management has discussion with
the valuers on the valuation assumptions and valuation
results when the valuation is performed at each interim

and annual reporting date.

Information about Level 3 fair value measurement

The fair value of investment properties was determined
using income capitalisation approach which capitalised
the net rental income of the properties and taking into
account the occupancy rate and reversionary income
potential of properties after the expiry of the current

leases. The significant unobservable inputs are set out

BEYIEHAT below:
BAftRNEE HAENEE
Range of capitalisation rate Range of occupancy rate
RENE Investment properties 2019 2018 2019 2018
[IMEENEENE  Commercial properties in Hong Kong 200% —5.00%  2.20%—500%  92.9%—100%  98.3% — 100%
MIREBHIENE  Industrial properties in Hong Kong 4.00% 4,00% 100% 100%

REMENAABEFERHN
MERKIELREER - BREXR(
LR R LR -

Associated International Hotels Limited S\ EEIFEEA R A T

The fair value measurement of investment properties
is positively correlated to the occupancy rate and

negatively correlated to the capitalisation rate.



B#BERME Notes to the Financial Statements
(LL8 %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(b)

REVENAABESTE @ (b) Fair value measurement of investment
properties (Continued)
iy BZERLAAEBEIFENE (i) Information about Level 3 fair value measurement
B (Continued)
AFEEANE=ZEBRAAEBEL The movements during the year in the balance of these
BRAS Q@JZZDT : Level 3 fair value measurement are as follows:
NAEBH NABEBHN
[SE2/ES TEYE
Commercial Industrial
properties in properties in
Hong Kong Hong Kong
F T
$°000 $°000
R2017F4 /818 At 1 April 2017 13,981,390 50,080
b Additions 3,086 —
AR BEFHE Fair value adjustments (273,776) 3,940
720183 A31H At 31 March 2018 13,710,700 54,020
R2018F4A1H At 1 April 2018 13,710,700 54,020
EE Additions 371 -
AR BEAE Fair value adjustments (271,581) 5,540
7201993 A31H At 31 March 2019 13,439,490 59,560

REMENRD R BEARER
AlESEREMEEEKARNE
BYEGEBEFEIER PR
R NFENEBEFHERD
FEHmEZEEIREAEER
HEHBREABENYE -
ZEEEPHRETELAEET
FET LRI EE - mTE
HHRASREERTE -

Fair value adjustment of investment properties is
recognised in the line item “net valuation losses on
investment properties” on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income. All the valuation changes recognised in profit or
loss for the year arise from the properties held at the end
of the reporting period. The valuation changes will only
affect the accounting profit or loss but not the cash flows

of the Group.
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B R ERMEE Notes to the Financial Statements

(LA %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(c) MEREFEMNDHAT :

(c) The analysis of net book value of properties
is as follows:

2019 2018
F T
$°000 $°000

EES In Hong Kong

— REAE — Long leases 162,838 143,259

— HEE — Medium-term leases 13,398,816 13,687,509

13,561,654 13,830,768

(d) HuEEEEM - £EB  SEHERA
Ho

(e) MBEHEKER  AEEUARE
HERBENRAEREERER FES
17,0007C(=Z—/\ & : 46,0007T) °

() AEEULLBERHEREDE B
LHRERVNAYEMEETF LB
BREREBTERIERBER  ERTE
BRI EFAE - HE_T—NF
=A==+ —BIEFERNBETERE
WA K 88 f & 48,854,000 (= F
— )\ : 10,097,0007T) °

MR AERAEERBHEORE

BREVMEERNAENE  HEDH
RIREME -

Associated International Hotels Limited S\ EEIFEEA R A T

(d) Other assets comprise furniture, fixtures, equipment and motor

vehicles.

(e) At the end of the reporting period, the net book value of office
equipment held under finance leases of the Group was $17,000
(2018: $46,000).

(f) The Group leases out investment properties under operating
leases. The leases run for an initial period of two to ten years,
with an option to renew the lease after that date at which time
all terms are renegotiated. Contingent rentals recognised as
income in profit or loss during the year ended 31 March 2019

were $8,854,000 (2018: $10,097,000).

All properties held under operating leases that would otherwise
meet the definition of investment property are classified as

investment property.



B#BERME Notes to the Financial Statements
(LL8 %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(f) (#8) (f) (Continued)
AEEBRETAIBRBREEHEERLH The total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
BENNSKEREENREAZNT - operating leases are receivables as follows:

2019 2018

T T

$°000 $'000

1R Within 1 year 413,884 439,046

1F1£B5F N After 1 year but within 5 years 670,554 370,089

5% 1% After 5 years 230,499 259,132

1,314,937 1,068,267

() BEEEH

REHRKER - RITEREUAR

18 4 13,339,037,000 7T

£ :13,633,161,0007C) W E F & &

TEREIR (2RI E20) ©

(9) Pledge of assets

At the end of the reporting period, fixed assets with carrying

(Z=—N value of $13,339,037,000 (2018: $13,633,161,000) were

pledged to secure the bank loan (see note 20).

TRIEAEBFRENBARERE - B52H The following list contains the particulars of all the subsidiaries of the
SIRRESN - PFTIEAERIRMD Y AT @K o Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.
MBS S R BRTRAR HAARFEH
ARER Fd-$iuk BRAFE PR LBl FTEEK
Proportion of
Place of ownership
incorporation Particulars of issued interest held by
Name of company and operation and paid up capital the Company Principal activity
Associated International Resorts Limited EB 207t Rl R D 100% NERE
Hong Kong $20 divided into 2 shares Inactive
BERRRF i 200,0007T5 £200,0008% 17 100% NERE
Diamond Town Limited Hong Kong $200,000 divided into 200,000 shares Property investment
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B#BEME Notes to the Financial Statements
(LA %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2019 2018
T T
$°000 $'000
FEUER SR Accounts receivable 17,100 12,213
W EEEREE Less: Allowance for credit losses
(HM¥EE14(0)) (note 14(0)) (1,575) (1,575)
15,525 10,638
HEDSSENEN Deposits and prepayments 10,987 7,389
26,512 18,027
(a) BREZDAT (@) Ageing analysis
R EHELER  BEERKE The ageing analysis of accounts receivable (net of allowance
R REMRANERER(E for credit losses) which was included in accounts receivable,
MR =EEEER) NRESITIOT ¢ deposits and prepayments as of the end of the reporting period
is as follows:
2019 2018
T T
$°000 $'000
R EA(EE) Current (Note) 14,005 9,113
B HER D1 E A Less than 1 month past due 1,443 1,226
#EA1 2= 3(E B 1 to 3 months past due 65 282
i1 B R 1B 3 (E A More than 3 months but less than
BLR12ME A 12 months past due 12 13
B ERER B 1218 A More than 12 months past due -
By Amounts past due 1,520 1,525
15,525 10,638
i EEEeRAESREHBEEN Note: The amount includes the receivable for lease incentives of
7k 380 2 8 Uk 88 010,152,000 T ( = & $10,152,000 (2018: $8,463,000) which is not past due.
— )\ : 8,463,0007T) °
RA—ESAEREH  EFER Debts are generally due on the 1st day of each month and
H—A+XE+HXA - BHEe UK 10 to 14 days are allowed for settlement or else interest will be
FB o REBEEREEMEFISTE charged. Further details on the Group’s credit policy are set out
HRBIFE24(a) © in note 24(a).
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(LL8 %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(b)

PE UK BR FRI{E
AEENEEERESEEEEZH N
K:

(b)

Impairment of accounts receivable
The movement in the specific allowance for credit losses during

the year is as follows:

2019 2018

i FiT

$°000 $'000

72018/2017F4A1H At 1 April 2018/2017 1,575 1,675
ERERRERE Impairment losses recognised 304 =
[Eiazkz= BN R qEIE ¢ Uncollectible amounts written off (304) =
M3A31H8 At 31 March 1,575 1,575

R B RERY FE U BR X
RIBCEAGFER)FEIR S/
THR:BRRFAEIM2N LR
feve

RZE—N\FOA—HF - REAR
BRREEE 2B T A R E
B (2B 1)) — RZZE—N
FHOA—HAERMHER) - RZF
—N\NFE=ZA=+—8 ' ERERF
B 8% #I T 7= R E /9 BR X058 1,575,000
7o Bt - ERERNEEEEREE
A5 A1,575,0007T ©

Accounts receivable that are not impaired
Comparative information under HKAS 39, Financial

instruments: Recognition and measurement

Prior to 1 April 2018, an impairment loss was recognised only
when there was objective evidence of impairment (see note
1(h)(i) — policy applicable prior to 1 April 2018). At 31 March
2018, accounts receivable of $1,575,000 was determined to
be impaired. Consequently, specific allowance for credit losses

of $1,575,000 was recognised.
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B#BEME Notes to the Financial Statements
(LA %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(c) REREBEREWRR &) (c) Accounts receivable that are not impaired
(Continued)
RECE B ER)EINR &/ Comparative information under HKAS 39, Financial
TE: BRARHE M2 28 instruments: Recognition and measurement (Continued)
BRH(E)
A Bl s B REAR A R B RUE R FE W BR The ageing analysis of accounts receivable that are neither
REERER DT ¢ individually nor collectively considered to be impaired was as
follows:
2018
Tt
$'000
KBS BIRE Neither past due nor impaired 9,113
B0 B P {E A Less than 1 month past due 1,226
EHER1 = 31E A 1 to 3 months past due 282
60 HRE A3 ME H B AP 1 21E A More than 3 months but less than 12 months past due 13
BERRR A1 218 A More than 12 months past due 4
1,625
10,638
R EIE R A R E M UL BR 2R AR Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a
B BEH R R EEBE R - wide range of customers for whom there was no recent history
of default.
B HIE R AR E R BN EBR A=K Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
BARE BB R BT R — @ number of independent customers that have a good track
25 EIBERA  BIBUATKE record with the Group. Based on past experience, management
HREEBETES ANE > MEH believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect
ERIEAR AR 2E8ULE - FTAEE of these balances as there has not been a significant change
FEULEHERR A - in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully
recoverable.
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(LL8 %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

R=B-NER-F-/\F=A=+-8 -
SOTERERIEER - BB —RETRGT

HERTTE R (2RfTE20)

(@)

BEeRREZEEYEE

designated bank to secure the bank loan (see note 20).

At 31 March 2019 and 2018, bank deposits were pledged to a

(@) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

2019 2018
T Tt

$°000 $°000

IRITEETER Deposits with banks 472,394 492,358
RITFERNES Cash at bank and in hand 38,931 26,889
511,325 519,247
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B#BEME Notes to the Financial Statements
(LA %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

b) METBFELENEBEH (b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
iR : financing activities:
T?&%;ﬂj$‘i EREEBFTEEMNE The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from
B 2R ERSNIERSE financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.

P BELTBMELANAGBIEZRE
MRS RECKARKADREREK

Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which

cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the

DHENGEBERERNMETE consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from
A o financing activities.
RITER wmE PR
— HEH HEHRE B {8 ERRE e
Government
Obligations lease
Bank loan under finance premiums Interest
— secured leases payable payables Total
Tr T T Fr T
$000 $°000 $000 $'000 $°000
(Pit7E20) (PtzE21) (Fifr22)
(Note 20) (Note 21) (Note 22)
M2018%F4H1H At 1 April 2018 200,000 46 1,920 236 202,202
MEHRLREBEE . Changes from financing
cash flows:
ENRAMREMS  Capital element of finance
BRI lease rentals paid - (29) - - (29)
FRBTHE Payment for government
lease premiums payable - - (63) - (63)
R EFHETE  Interest paid on government
lease premiums payable - - - (96) (96)
BRRITEFFIE  Interest paid on bank loan - - - (4,563) (4,563)

B EAEFAR A Other borrowing costs paid - - - (249) (249)
BAREMELE Total changes from

Pk financing cash flows - (29) (63) (4,908) (5,000)
Hin# g Other changes:

RITEFFIE Interest on bank loan - - - 4511 4511
HIERAA Other borrowing costs - - - 250 250
FERBFERE  Interest on government

lease premiums payable - - - 94 94
Hith S s 4E5E Total other changes - - - 4,855 4,855
M2019%3H31H At 31 March 2019 200,000 17 1,857 183 202,057

Associated International Hotels Limited S\ EEIFEEA R A T
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B#BERME Notes to the Financial Statements
(LL8 %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities: (Continued)

PITEK wE JERS
— B HEAYE BB JEAIH.S, o]
Government
Obligations lease
Bank loan  under finance premiums Interest
— secured leases payable payables Total
T T T T T
$000 $000 $'000 $000 $'000
(FfzE£20) (MfeE21)  (R9eEe2)
(Note 20) (Note 21) (Note 22)
M20175F481H At 1 April 2017 200,000 75 1,980 289 202,344
BMEFLREBEE . Changes from financing
cash flows:
EfFEHEHS Capital element of finance
HYEARER D lease rentals paid = (29) - — 29)
AT (E Payment for government
lease premiums payable — — (60) — (60)
EARBFFER]E  Interest paid on government
lease premiums payable = — - (99) (99)
BRHERITEFFISE  Interest paid on bank loan = = = (2,845) (2,845)
B EAEFAA  Other borrowing costs paid - - - (249) (249)
MEBREREES Total changes from
k] financing cash flows - (29) (60) (3,193) (3,282)
Hfth &) Other changes:
RITERFE Interest on bank loan = = = 2,793 2,793
H A fE A Other borrowing costs - - - 250 250
FEREFFERE  Interest on government
lease premiums payable — — — 97 97
Hi S a4 Total other changes = = = 3,140 3,140
7M2018%3H31H At 31 March 2018 200,000 46 1,920 236 202,202
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B R 3k R R AT — R
fi o

B 7 130,831,000 T ( = & — J\ &F :
104,944,00070) ME] £ BT A BR—F1&
BN - FTEEWRET R TBATR —F R ©

B#BEME Notes to the Financial Statements
(LA %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

All of the other payables and accruals are expected to be settled

within one year.

All of the deposits received are expected to be settled within one year
except for $130,831,000 (2018: $104,944,000) which is expected to

be settled after more than one year.

Frx

$°000

20184 751H At 1 April 2018 1,485
NEEFTIRER Provision made for the year 66
20193 A31H At 31 March 2019 1,551

REBEBCRBIESD) - NEBARK LR
hFHNAENE TREBMAER - ERLFER
THAER—EMNR - BN SBEZEMRET
RERMFHE RRBEH - HERARERK
FPEABASBEERNHRSEAE - K&
B8 A B R A E E R EARISRERD

Associated International Hotels Limited S\ EEIFEEA R A T

Under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, the Group is obliged
to make lump sum payments on cessation of employment in certain
circumstances to employees who have completed at least five
years of service with the Group. The amount payable is dependent
on the employees’ final salary and years of service, and is reduced
by entitlements accrued under the Group’s retirement plan that is
attributable to contributions made by the Group. The Group does not

set aside any assets to fund any remaining obligations.



R-ZT—NAE=F=+—8  RITEZNE
AR

B#BERME Notes to the Financial Statements
(LL8 %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

At 31 March 2019, the bank loan was repayable as follows:

2019 2018

Fr Fx

$°000 $'000

1F&BE2FRN After 1 year but within 2 years — 200,000
2 1£{B5F A After 2 years but within 5 years 200,000 =
200,000 200,000

R-ZT—=F+A+tH AQRE—[EIR
fIR] 3 T — 12 & #£300,000,000 7T #J it &
W e RZE—X"ENA=+H KA7A
HZIRITEI L — R nE - HRE SRR
ER=FE-F-NF+ANB - ERESE
FIEET  ZREHRCEE— SERMT
ZE-ZT-—F+A\B - ZBRITHERMN
—HeEETETEE(2BHE12(9)
WE—BEEEEHERE TRITER(2H
MizE15)ME — B MEFERER -
RZZ—AEFE=A=+—80 XEENRE
77 & 3 5 200,000,000 7T ( =& — J\ £ ¢
200,000,0007T) °

ARBRRITHERERITEARARBNET
RAMBANRL RE M RRFER T ER
R WRERHEAE —TERREKF o fHA
NAERZERE - BB ESR
ERBNEERR - ARREEHERREE
NeELRE R_E-—NFER-_T—/\F
=ZA=t1t—H8  AAFLEEREFTERR
EERMNRE -

On 7 October 2013, the Company entered into a facility agreement
with a bank for banking facilities of up to $300,000,000. On 30 August
2016, the Company entered into a supplemental agreement with the
bank for extension of the facilities for three years to 8 October 2019.
In comply with certain conditions, the facilities have been further
extended for two additional years to 8 October 2021. The banking
facilities were secured by a debenture incorporating a first fixed legal
charge over certain fixed assets (see note 12(g)) and a first floating
charge over certain bank deposits (see note 15). At 31 March 2019,

the outstanding bank loan was $200,000,000 (2018: $200,000,000).

The Company’s banking facilities are subject to the fulfilment
of covenants relating to certain of the Company’s consolidated
statement of financial position ratios and maintenance of capital at
certain required levels. If the Company were to breach the covenants,
the drawn down facilities would become payable on demand. The
Company regularly monitors its compliance with these covenants. As
at 31 March 2019 and 2018, none of the covenants relating to drawn

down facilities had been breached.
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(LA %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

R-E—NF=ZA=+—8 ' AEEHME At 31 March 2019, the Group had obligations under finance leases
FTREAERERIBOT ¢ repayable as follows:
2019 2018

BIEHEE REHEE ®EEE REHEE
ARERE ARELH  RERE  IREER

Present Present
value of the Total value of the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments
Tr T T T
$°000 $°000 $'000 $'000
1R Within 1 year 17 17 29 29
16121825 K After 1 year but within 2 years - - 17 17
17 17 46 46
B BIEF B HEE Less: Total future interest expense - -
HEAENERE Present value of lease obligations 17 46
RZZE-—NF=ZA=+—8  ENERFHE At 31 March 2019, the government lease premiums payable was
REERERAT ¢ repayable as follows:
2019 2018
Fi F7
$°000 $'000
1ER(BIEEEA BN Within 1 year (amount included in
KEGERRN) other payables and accruals) 66 63
1618820 R After 1 year but within 2 years 69 66
2F B B5FN After 2 years but within 5 years 230 218
5 1% After 5 years 1,492 1,573
1,791 1,857
1,857 1,920
FENETHE N B R IH R EESHBURTE Interest on government lease premiums payable is chargeable at a
FReE(ZFE—\F : 5E)stH - fixed rate of 5% (2018: 5%) per annum on the outstanding balance.
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(LL8 %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Movements in components of equity

REBEGEESNTEAER D 8 H The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of
THEBREBROERR - JEHREE each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out
FEREEFER - RARINFYEFKME in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of
& Rl #E s AR BT 2 RO BhFF 1B DI E a0 the changes in the Company’s individual components of equity
e between the beginning and the end of the year are set out
VAN/NE] The Company
B BEfhRE R T B
Share Revaluation Retained
capital reserve earnings Total
Fr Fx Fr Fr
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
A2017%481H Balance at 1 April 2017
B EER 360,000 1,761,266 11,918,705 14,039,971
RER @A R Profit and total comprehensive
FERABRE income for the year - - 131,690 131,690
B E—BFE Dividends approved in respect of
BLERIRLE. the previous financial year = = (216,000)  (216,000)
BRAMRFEE Dividends declared in respect of
=R 0)iES) the current financial year = = (216,0000  (216,000)
R201853H31H Balance at 31 March 2018
k201854818 and 1 April 2018
ioE=Y 360,000 1,761,266 11,618,395 13,739,661
REEHEF R Profit and total comprehensive
EEA LB income for the year - - 152,861 152,861
BR E—MBFE Dividends approved in respect of
RUERELE the previous financial year - - (212,400)  (212,400)
BRAMRFE Dividends declared in respect of
BEIRFBE the current financial year - - (208,800)  (208,800)
A2019%3HA31H Balance at 31 March 2019
B ER 360,000 1,761,266 11,350,056 13,471,322
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(LA %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(b) B (b) Share capital
2019 2018
RHEHE Fr Bin B T
Number of shares $°000 Number of shares $'000

ERITREE :  Issued and fully paid:

B Ordinary shares 360,000,000 360,000 360,000,000 360,000
WIEEB(RTHERYE1351E - &~ In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong Companies
B @A S EE o Ordinance, the ordinary shares of the Company have no

nominal value.
LRI A A G ENETNE TR AR The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends
= I—IEZK ARKE -5 — as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per
BERR DI — 2 - R A AR FIGE share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank
EpaY ;@_ﬂxi’;j;ﬁ AR - equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

() EfffEENMENRAZ (¢) Nature and purpose of revaluation reserve
BREESRATFERRRAEE The revaluation reserve represents hotel properties revaluation
MEEHREGREMYESHES - surpluses and other properties revaluation surplus recognised
ZBECERABERES - REENE in prior years. The hotel has been redeveloped into ISQUARE.
BEEBYEEL  TRHBNEGZS Upon the retirement or disposal of the properties, any related
eHEMHEEEARE SN o HFEE revaluation surplus is transferred from the revaluation reserve to
ETADIRA ° retained earnings. The reserve is non-distributable.

d) FEDIREE (d) Distributability of reserves

R=ZF—hF=ZA=+—8  RE
EBCRBNED B R T E A
HORFTARERRRAOEELLE
#£1,822,935,000 7 (=& — \ & :
1,805,233,0007T) - EE B R MEH
i%?%EMé EZDIRARHREGR
0.57T(=ZF—/\F : §R0.597T) -
= /\20520000075(_;—J\¢
212,400,0007T) (M17510) © ELAR S
RBEHRERE R NAERARE -
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At 31 March 2019, the aggregate amount of reserves available
for distribution to equity shareholders of the Company,
as calculated under the provisions of Part 6 of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, was $1,822,935,000 (2018:
$1,805,233,000). After the end of the reporting period,
the Directors proposed a final dividend of $0.57 per share
(2018: $0.59 per share), amounting to $205,200,000
(2018: $212,400,000) (note 10). This dividend has not been

recognised as a liability at the end of the reporting period.



B HR KM Notes to the Financial Statements

(LB¥HIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for equity shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders, by leasing properties and
pricing services commensurately with the level of risk and by

securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group regularly reviews and manages its capital structure
to maintain a balance between the higher member returns that
might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the
advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position,
and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of
changes in economic conditions. The Group’s overall strategy
remained unchanged during the years ended 31 March 2019
and 2018.

The Group monitors its capital structure by reviewing its gearing
ratio and cash flow requirements, taking into account its future
financial obligations and commitments. For this purpose, the
Group defines gearing ratio as total bank loan over total equity
as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position. As
at 31 March 2019, the Group’s gearing ratio was 1.5% (2018:
1.4%) with bank deposits and cash exceeding total bank loan
of $324,472,000 (2018: $329,542,000).
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B R ERMEE Notes to the Financial Statements

(LA %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in

the normal course of the Group’s business.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk

management policies and practices used by the Group to manage

these risks are described below.

(@

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
accounts receivable, pledged bank deposits and cash and
cash equivalents. Management has a credit policy in place
and the exposure to this credit risk is monitored on an ongoing

basis.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from pledged bank
deposits and cash and cash equivalents is limited because the
counterparties are banks and financial institutions with sound
credit rating, for which the Group considers to have low credit

risk.

In respect of accounts receivable, individual credit evaluations
are performed on all customers requiring credit over a certain
amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past
history of making payments when due and current ability to
pay, and take into account information specific to the customer
as well as pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates. Debts are generally due on the 1st day of
each month and 10 to 14 days are allowed for settlement or
else interest will be charged. Legal action will be taken against
past due debtors whenever the situation is appropriate. The
Group obtains deposits from customers (see note 18) as
collateral over accounts receivable to cover potential exposure
to credit risk. At 31 March 2019, the expected credit losses for
accounts receivable were measured and loss allowance was

provided.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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Credit risk (Continued)

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk.
The maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account
of any collateral held is represented by the carrying amount
of each financial asset in the statement of financial position
after deducting any impairment allowance. The Group does
not provide any guarantees which would expose the Group to

credit risk.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from accounts receivable are set

out in note 14.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liguidity requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of
cash and an adequate amount of committed banking facilities

to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities
at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted
cash flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the
end of the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group can

be required to pay:
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B R ERMEE Notes to the Financial Statements

(LA %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(b) REBE SRR @ (b) Liquidity risk (Continued)
2019

ELESiiE) 15 BRF HimoF
REE REREAE BEEAR  BOWE BORSE BiBsF

Total More than More than

contractual Within 1yearbut  2yearsbut
Carrying  undiscounted 1 year or less than less than More than
amount cashflow  ondemand 2 years 5years 5 years
n r r i r n
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
EifEftRESEA  Other payables and accruals 22,080 22,101 22,101 - - -
BT Deposits received 193,814 193,814 62,983 43,244 73,495 14,092
BEMEAL Obligations under finance leases 17 17 17 - - -
ROER—HEA Bank loan — secured 200,000 212,508 4,97 4,957 202,580 -
[ENBFHE Government lease premiums payable 1,791 2,701 - 159 477 2,065
417,702 431,141 90,072 48,360 276,552 16,157

2018

ANRITR 1R HiB1E HRiBE
REE RORSRE  BRERAR  BINE BINSF BiBoF

Total More than More than

contractual Within 1 year but 2 years but
Carrying  undiscounted 1 year or less than less than More than
amount cash flow on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years
Tr Tr Tr T T T
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Hi TR EFEE  Other payables and accruals 21,125 21,147 21,147 - - =
EXETE Deposits received 195,748 195,748 90,804 55,171 37,555 12,218
BEHEAL Obligations under finance leases 46 46 29 17 - -
BOER —BER Bank loan — secured 200,000 204,891 3216 201,675 - -
ER BTG Govemment lease premiums payable 1,857 2,859 - 159 477 2,223
418,776 424,691 115,196 257,022 38,032 14,441
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B#BERME Notes to the Financial Statements
(LL8 %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(c)

2= [ e (c) Interest rate risk

AEENNXEREZRERTE
oo FRMIRITEREREBAEAT
REeEnENEER AEBEEERES

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from bank loan.
The bank loan borrowed at variable rates expose the Group to

cash flow interest rate risk. The Group’s interest rate profile as

EEYH RGN () Pt monitored by management is set out in (i) below.
()  FI=HR () Interest rate profile

TRHAVRBEHRELER
AEBPRAZERAFERNEX
ez 0 A8 R R AR

The following table details the interest rate profile of the
Group’s borrowings with significant interest rate risk

exposure at the end of the reporting period:

2019 2018
BREA=E BERA =
Effective Effective
interest rate FTt interest rate FT
% $°000 % $'000
EEMER Fixed rate borrowings:
FERTBUAT H0(E Government lease premiums
payable 5.00 1,857 5.00 1,920
FEMER Variable rate borrowings:
FBITER — B/ Bank loan — secured 2.48 200,000 1.61 200,000
Fatc) Total 201,857 201,920

Annual Report 2018-2019 3§

145



146

(©)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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B R ERMEE Notes to the Financial Statements
(LAB % 5IR)

(©

(d)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

(i)

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March 2019, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 50 (2018: 75) basis points in
interest rates, with all other variables held constant,
would have decreased/increased the Group’s profit after
tax and the retained profits by approximately $835,000
(2018: $1,253,000).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s profit after tax (and retained
profits) that would arise assuming that the change in
interest rates had occurred at the end of the reporting
period. In respect of the exposure to cash flow interest
rate risk arising from floating rate non-derivative
instruments held by the Group at the end of the reporting
period, the impact on the Group’s profit after tax (and
retained profits) is estimated as an annualised impact on
interest expense of such a change in interest rates. The

analysis is performed on the same basis for 2018.

Currency risk

The Group has no significant exposure to foreign currency risk as

substantially all of the Group’s transactions are denominated in

Hong Kong dollars.

Fair values

All financial instruments are carried at amounts not materially

different from their fair values as at 31 March 2019 and 2018.
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B#BERME Notes to the Financial Statements
(LL8 %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administrated by independent trustees.
Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
$30,000. In addition to the mandatory contribution, the Group makes
voluntary contribution at 5% of the employees’ monthly relevant
income in excess of $30,000, subject to a maximum monthly income
of $40,000. Mandatory contributions to the plan vest immediately
while voluntary contributions to the plan vest at the time the
employees reach the retirement range, subject to certain conditions.
The staff costs in respect of staff employed by Cushman & Wakefield
Property Management Limited for building and property management
of ISQUARE are reflected in the Group’s consolidated statement of

profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

During the year, no forfeited contributions (2018: $3,000) was utilised
to reduce the contributions payable for the year. No unutilised forfeited
contributions had yet to be applied by the Group at 31 March 2019
and 2018.

Capital commitments outstanding at 31 March 2019 not provided for

in the financial statements were as follows:

2019 2018

T T

$°000 $'000

EHES] Contracted for 1,440 —
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B#BEME Notes to the Financial Statements
(LA %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2019 2018
BfaE T Tt
Note $°000 $°000
FREBEE Non-current assets
BEEEE Fixed assets
— I EYE — Investment properties 13,341,050 13,626,720
— HiE  BENLRE — Other properties, plant and equipment 64,960 67,837
13,406,010 18,694,557
RHTB A TR Interest in subsidiaries 31,084 31,084
13,437,094 18,725,641
REBEE Current assets
FEUEER - 518 RTER R Accounts receivable, deposits and
prepayments 26,490 18,005
BEIEFIRITIER Pledged bank deposits 13,147 10,295
Be MREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 508,979 516,145
548,616 544,445
REBAE Current liabilities
Hfh e~ 3k N BT Other payables and accruals 21,677 21,089
BRG] Deposits received 192,094 194,267
EHIRG © X% Provision for long service payments 1,551 1,485
FERTHI B A TI3IE Amount due to a subsidiary 4,482 27,482
RbE T S ARIE Obligations under finance leases 17 29
ANEREASETS R Current tax payable 14,749 14.541
234,570 258,893
REEETE Net current assets 314,046 285,552
BEABRABAE Total assets less current liabilities 13,751,140 14,011,193
ERBERE Non-current liabilities
RITER — BEMA Bank loan — secured 200,000 200,000
FENATHE Government lease premiums payable 1,791 1,857
BB FH & Obligations under finance leases _ 17
ELEHREAE Deferred tax liabilities 78,027 69,658
279,818 271,632
EEFE NET ASSETS 13,471,322 13,739,661
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B HR KM Notes to the Financial Statements

(LL8 %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2019 2018
EEs Fx Fx
Note $000 $'000

BEARRFHE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 23

A& AN Share capital 23(b) 360,000 360,000

o] Reserves 13,111,322 13,379,661

DB TOTAL EQUITY 13,471,322 13,739,661

ATE -
EE EE

ExZeRA AEER_ZT-NF=A
=T ANERBARRKKREET SRR
REBWEARARMREBRAR - MRA
AEEREREMMKL - BEERSARSRERA
RO B HRE - RRIERTALSERE
AHARSPEERE

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on

27 June 2019.

Cheong Hooi Hong Cheong Kheng Lim

Director Director

At 31 March 2019, the Directors consider the immediate parent and
ultimate controlling party of the Group to be Tian Teck Land Limited
and Tian Teck Investment Holding Co., Limited respectively, both
of which are incorporated in Hong Kong. The immediate parent
produces financial statements available for public use and the ultimate
controlling party does not produce financial statements available for

public use.

Annual Report 2018-2019 3§

149



B#BEME Notes to the Financial Statements
(LA %% R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HEAWBHRERZEAH  BEFHIAQ Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has
S BMZENAEBRE_Z—LE=A issued a number of amendments, new standards and interpretations
=+—HIEFEEWN  INREENBHREK which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 March 2019 and
EARERT « FTERFRIE - FLERE L which have not been adopted in these financial statements. These
BIE TS A e A EEARBEHIER © include the following which may be relevant to the Group.
EUATHEHR 2%
BRI E S EA R A K

Effective for accounting periods

beginning on or after

(EEVBRELR)E 165 1HE ] 20191 A1H
HKFRS 16, Leases 1 January 2019
HE(BERMSREREZE S )R B3N FTETH IR N HEE M 201951 A1 H
HK(IFRIC) Interpretation 23, Uncertainty over income tax treatments 1 January 2019
(EBEVBRELER)D2015F E2017F RAN FE L 20191 H1H
Annual improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 cycle 1 January 2019
RiNEL(ss] - FTERIMBREE NGRS B The adoption of these amendments, new standards and
WMRBREAZENIREETAK © interpretations is unlikely to have a significant impact on the

consolidated financial statements.
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A FMBHE

Five Year Financial Summary

(LB % 5|R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
T T T ¥ 7
$000 $'000 $000 $'000 $000
WA Revenue 644,984 667,214 661,677 632,541 610,587
REWEME Profit/(loss) from operations
SBEBENEE after valuation changes in
wE(E8) investment properties 1,380,284 964,731 (65,928) 246,611 233,750
AR A Finance costs (2,398) (2,458) (3,374) (3,140) (4,855)
BRBLATRA(B18) Profit/(loss) before taxation 1,377,886 962,273 (69,302) 243,471 228,895
FriS®i Income tax (87,507) (90,904) (89,813) (84,153) (80,410)
NEERRR Profit/(loss) for the year
EEAREE attributable to equity
BEL(E5E) shareholders of the Company 1,290,379 871,369 (159,115) 159,318 148,485
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EFEFHEHE Five Year Financial Summary

(LB % 5IR) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Tt Tt v Tt Fr

$000 $°000 $000 $000 $000

EEE Fixed assets 14,318,237 14,724,637 14,103,436 13,832,557 13,564,010

MENEEFE Net current assets 230,725 71,289 308,792 314,641 318,777

14,548,962 14,795,926 14,412,228 14,147,198 13,882,787

IRITER — HEIF Bank loan — secured (200,000) = (200,000) (200,000) (200,000)
FER BT HE Government lease premiums

payable (2,037) (1,980) (1,920) (1,857) (1,791)

e B A IE Obligations under finance leases (104) (75) (46) (17) -

EERIBEE Deferred tax liabilities 47,111) (54,792) (62,298) (70,042) (78,429)

EEFE NET ASSETS 14,299,710 14,739,079 14,147,964 13,875,282 13,602,567

%N Share capital 360,000 360,000 360,000 360,000 360,000

A Reserves 13,939,710 14,379,079 13,787,964 13,515,282 13,242,567

RERAE TOTAL EQUITY 14,299,710 14,739,079 14,147,964 13,875,282 13,602,567
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